# Enhancing the B2B Selling Process Through Social Media

**Olivier Bercier** 

Supervisor: Dr. Ajax Persaud

Thesis submitted to the University of Ottawa in partial Fulfillment of the requirements for the M.Sc Management

Telfer School of Management

University of Ottawa

April 2020

© Olivier Bercier, Ottawa, Canada, 2020

# Table of contents

Abstract	IV
List of tables	V
1. Introduction	1
2. Literature review	
2.1 The functional blocks of social media	
2.2 Social media categories	6
2.3 The B2B Selling process	9
2.4 Social media and marketing strategies	
2.5 Buyer-Seller relationships	
2.6 Summary of the literature on social media in sales	
3. Research design and methodology	
3.1 Qualitative research rationale	
3.2 Research design	
3.3 Case selection	
3.4 Data collection	
3.5 Data analysis	
3.6 Quality of the research design	
4. Within case analysis	
4.1 Introduction to the cases	

4.2 Introduction to the key respondents	27
4.3 Case #1	
4.4 Case #2	35
4.5 Case #3	40
4.6 Case #4	45
4.7 Case #5	54
4.8 Case #6	56
5. Cross case analysis	58
5.1 Strategy	58
5.2 Stages	59
5.3 Value	63
5.4 Categories	64
5.5 Functions	67
6. Discussion	
6.1 Social media, traditional media, and analytical tools:	
6.2 The functional blocks of social media in the selling process	
6.3 Limitations and future research	80
7. References	82

### Abstract

This study provides insights into understanding social media utilization in the B2B selling process. More specifically, this research details how the different functional blocks of social media are leveraged to benefit the various stages of the selling process. This study adopts a multiple case study design, including six cases from technology-related Canadian firms. Overall, findings show that the functional blocks of social media are mostly leveraged in the prospecting and preapproach stages of the selling process. Furthermore, the marketing strategy of the seller firm seems to influence which functional blocks are leveraged in the process. At last, findings also show that social media should be complemented by analytical tools and traditional media to optimize the selling process with higher lead quality and to facilitate trust-building with potential and existing customers.

# List of tables

Tables	Page number
Table 1.1: Social media categories and definitions	8
Table 2.1 Summary of the articles on social media in B2B sales	15
Table 4.1: Case descriptions	24
Table 4.2: Case analysis	26
Table 4.3: Interviewees profiles	
Table 5.1: Social media used in the B2B sales process by categories	63
Table 6.1: The functional blocks of social media in the selling process	74

### 1. Introduction

Social media has been an emerging trend in the marketing and sales literature and is becoming increasingly important for a firm's marketing communication (Andersson and Wikstrom, 2017). Research shows that social media is an essential facilitator of customer relationships (Agnihotri et al., 2012), that firms benefit from using it to build relationships (Andersson and Wikstrom, 2017) and that its use positively affect sales performances (Rodriguez et al. 2012). However, despite extensive research in the B2C context, much less is known about its use in B2B settings (Keinanen and Kuivalainen, 2015; Lashgari et al., 2018). Among recent studies centered on social media in the B2B context, Moore et al. (2013) examined the extent to which salespeople use social media tools in B2C and B2B environments. The latter revealed that B2C and B2B salespeople do not use the same categories of social media and, thus, do not leverage this novel technology the same way. Subsequently, Moore et al. (2015) provided more details in regards to social media usage in the B2B selling process and validated that salespeople do use them to a substantial extent. Moreover, Diba et al. (2019) provided a better understanding of the various interactions that social media can have over the organizational buying process to ultimately find that social media is relevant in each stage of the process. Given the interrelated nature of the B2B buying and selling processes as well as evidence from Moore et al. that salespeople do use social media, this study aims to address the gap that exists in regards to social media use in different stages of the B2B the selling process.

The purpose of this research is to **explore how social media can enhance the B2B selling process in Canadian selling firms**. Accordingly, this research adopts three research objectives: (1) Investigate which steps of the selling process benefit the most from social media

2

use; (2) Explore how social media is integrated in the marketing and sales strategies of B2B sellers and; (3) Explore how social media are leveraged to benefit the selling process.

This research will help several key groups of people from the academic, sales, and marketing domains. First, researchers engaged in social media and sales research will benefit from the theoretical contributions. In fact, the findings of this study deepen our current understanding of how social media enhances specific stages of the selling process. Oppositely to what had been suggested previously, this study found that social media platforms and applications are not directly used in every step of the selling process. Also, the findings show that the marketing strategy of the firms influence which social media functional blocks are leveraged in the different stages of the selling process. Second, managers from seller firms and salespeople will benefit from the managerial contributions of this study. It provides new insights regarding the complementary elements that increase the potential benefits of social media to selling practices. More specifically, this study suggests that social media activities should be complemented with analytical tools in the early stages and then replaced by traditional media in the later stages of the selling process. Different tools are now available for managers to track the content they produce and the users that interact with it to increase the overall quality of the leads they generate. Then, the multiple cases on which this study is based suggest that salespeople should maintain relationships with their clients using traditional media such as phone calls and face-to-face meetings.

This research adopted a multiple case study approach based on eight interviews from six companies, which we refer to as cases in this study. Each case was built around a Canadian technology firm selected based on several inclusion criteria. The cases were built on in-depth interviews with key individuals involved in the social media activities and selling process of their firm.

The thesis is organized as follows. It starts with a literature review of social media, the B2B selling process, and buyer-seller relationships. The literature review is followed by a detailed description of the methodology used in this thesis. The next section presents the analysis and findings, which introduces the insights observed from the cases. The thesis concludes by discussing the theoretical and managerial implications of the results, the limitations of the study, and suggests topics for further research.

## 2. Literature review

### 2.1 The functional blocks of social media

A recent study by Kietzmann et al. (2011) introduced the seven functional building blocks of social media (i.e., identity, conversation, sharing, presence, relationships, reputation, and groups) via the social media honeycomb model. With this model, the authors introduced the fundamental implications of each block to B2C firms. Eight years later, Diba et al. (2019) proposed an updated version of the honeycomb model explaining "the functional traits of different SM activities to B2B executives" (Diba et al., 2019, p. 1483). In this section, the seven functional blocks of social media will be reviewed along with their implications for B2B firms as proposed by Diba et al. Before diving in on each functional block, it should be noted that the blocks are not mutually exclusive and do not all have to be present in a given social media activity (Kietzmann et al., 2011). The building blocks are constructs that allow managers and researchers to "understand how different social media functionalities can be configured" (Kietzmann et al., 2012, p.110).

*Identity* represents the extent to which users reveal themselves on the platform (Kietzmann et al., 2011). It can include disclosing identifying information such as name, age, gender, profession, and location (Kietzmann et al., 2011). In a B2B context, *identity* can refer to corporate identity or brand identity (Diba et al., 2019). B2B firms can use social media to create their own identity and gradually build a following upon the latter (Diba et al., 2019).

*Conversation* refers to the extent to which users communicate with each other in a social media setting (Kietzmann et al., 2011). Many social media are designed to facilitate conversations among groups and individuals and therefore allow users to meet new people and to be aware of new ideas (Kietzmann et al., 2011). Conversation on social media can result in a variety of outcomes. Some conversations result in the synchronous exchange of short and ephemeral messages (e.g., Twitter) while others are more about rich and lengthy discussions that can be traced back (e.g., blogs). In a B2B environment, communication is networked and involves multiple intra-business and inter-business interactions (Diba et al., 2019). Diba et al. (2019) suggest that *conversations* include various topics such as: "discussions around needs for specific solutions, product training, online product demonstrations and comparative positioning of one offering versus its competition." B2B marketers use conversations on social media to connect with their target audiences and attract the attention of potential suppliers and customers (Diba et al., 2019).

*Sharing* is the extent to which users exchange, distribute, and receive content (Kietzmann et al., 2011). This block is tightly related to the *conversation* block, and as suggested by Diba et al. (2019), it relates to the content that is shared rather than the users sharing it. In the B2B context, *sharing* mostly occurs among parties involved in an existing relationship.

*Presence* represents the extent to which users know if others are accessible (Kietzmann et al., 2011). It includes knowing about a user's location and availability. An implication of *presence* is that it is directly related to *conversation* and *relationships*. Higher levels of social *presence* are likely to make *conversations* more influential (Kietzmann et al., 2011). Diba et al. (2019) reported from Hassanein and Head (2007) that B2B firms create a sense of perceived social presence by being on social media, which positively impacts consumer attitudes, the perceived responsiveness to consumer issues and trust.

*Relationship* refers to the extent to which users can be related to other users (Kietzmann et al., 2011). In other words, it is about the association that connects them. Some social media platforms are designed for formal and structured relationships to determine what and how much information is to be shared between parties. Oppositely, other platforms such as blogs allow users that are unknown to each other to share without any formal arrangement. In a B2B setting, firms strongly focus on building relationships with their suppliers and customers to "create a web of users throughout the SM platform they are able to leverage" (Diba et al., 2019, p.1484).

*Reputation* is the extent to which users can identify the standing of others. As argued by Kietzmann et al. (2011), reputation is often a matter of trust. However, since information technologies are not yet able to assess such qualitative criteria, social media rely on other tools that aggregate user-generated content to determine trustworthiness. Implications are that firms must choose appropriate metrics and also chose the proper evaluation tools to establish a reputation. Strength (i.e., number of mentions) and sentiment (i.e., ratio of positive mentions against negative ones) are examples of metrics used to assess the reputation of a person. In a

B2B context, a firm's reputation reflects its goodwill, brand equity, and trustworthiness (Diba et al., 2019).

*Groups* is the extent to which users can form communities. Social media offer tools to help people manage their relationships. Firms can use social media to reach specific groups with messages intended explicitly for them. Firms can also use social media to support a particular group most effectively (Diba et al., 2019). In the B2B context, groups are often used for crowdsourcing to receive new ideas, feedback, and solutions for improving their products and services (Diba et al. 2019).

It is essential for firms using social media to understand these seven functional blocks and to assess which ones are the most important for the social media they are using. This statement is justified by the following citation from Singaraju et al. (2016): "In using these social media functions offered by social media platforms, customers and firms are more seamlessly able to integrate their own resources for the mutual benefit of all participants in service exchanges" (Singaraju et al., 2016).

### 2.2 Social media categories

As the literature regarding social media keeps expanding, many definitions are attributed to the concept in an attempt to define its complex essence concisely. Because the term *social media* covers a wide variety of tools and platforms and is featured in many different pieces of literature, it can be looked at from several perspectives. Kaplan and Haenlein (2010) define social media as "a group of Internet-based applications that build on the ideological and technological foundations of Web 2.0 and that allow the creation and exchange of User Generated Content." This study adopts this definition as it is the dominant one in the Marketing and Sales literature.

Moore et al. (2013) report from Ellonen and Kosonen (2010) that there are two modes of social media mediated interactions between buyers and sellers. The first mode is described as follows: "a relationship-oriented mode emphasizes reciprocal and bilateral communication with regard to buyer-seller collaboration and reflects relationship marketing and selling." (Moore et al., 2013, p.50.) The second mode is described as transaction-focused and to be centered on one-way company controlled communications. As B2B buyer-seller relationships are known to be fundamentally driven by relational exchanges rather than transactional exchanges (Rajamma et al., 2011), this study adopts the delineation of relationship-oriented social media similarly to Moore et al. (2013).

As social media is continuously evolving, various aggregate lists of social media sites and applications exist to classify them. Moore et al. (2013) proposed a complete list of social media sites and apps based on their examination of nine other aggregate lists published online. They used the list to classify the different social media categories that are used in B2B and B2C sales and limited it to: "social media that are relationship-oriented, facilitate conversation-like exchanges, and are adaptable for use by sales practitioners and organizations." (Moore et al., 2013, p.56-57)

The following aggregate list of social media categories and definitions is based off the list suggested by Moore et al. (2013), but it is also limited to the social media platforms and applications that were mentioned across the six cases on which this study is based (See Table 1.1). All definitions were reported by Moore et al. (2013), following their literature review. Of the fifteen categories suggested initially, only seven were discussed in the interviews conducted for this study.

Category	Definition	Reference(s)
Blog	Journals on a variety of subjects with entries arranged in reverse chronological order.	Cox et al. 2008; Moore et al. 2013
Micro-blog	Allows users to exchange small elements of information, such as short sentences, individual images, or video links	Kaplan and Haenlein (2011); Moore et al. 2013
Instant messaging (IM)	Enables conversation-like data exchange on a variety of devices.	Dennis et al. (2010); Moore et al. 2013
Video hosting/Sharing (VHS)	Permits distribution of video clips to web pages and a variety of devices.	Huang et al. (2010); Moore et al. 2013
Social and professional networking (SPN)	Permits users to exchange data with others for bonding or career-related networking purposes.	Kaplan and Haenlein (2010); Moore et al. 2013
Online conferencing (OC)	Real-time meetings, training, or presentations via the Internet.	Fillicaro (2002); Moore et al. 2013
Moderated web community (MWC)	Virtual community organized around specific subject matter or interests. Require membership approval and pre-screening of contributions by a moderator	Moore et al. 2013; Moran and Gossieaux (2010)

 Table 1.1: Social Media Categories and Definitions

### 2.3 The B2B Selling process

The traditional selling process has been identified to be perhaps the oldest paradigm in the sales discipline (Moncrief and Marshall, 2005). Moncrief and Marshall argued that the steps of the selling process had remained virtually the same since the 1920s, to the exception of the follow-up stage. The latter was added later on with the emergence of relationship selling. However, the traditional selling process has now evolved due to many factors, such as technological advances (Moncrief and Marshall, 2005; Moore et al., 2015). For example, social media has been identified to be a dominant new selling tool (Marshall et al., 2012). This is justified by the fact that sales relationships are now driven by a need for immediate and open access to information, which technologies like social media can allow (Marshall and al., 2012). Accordingly, various scholars have proposed evolved selling processes in the last 15 years (Andzulis et al., 2012; Moncrief and Marshall, 2005; Moore et al., 2013). Nonetheless, as consensus does not seem to have been reached regarding the selling process using social media, the researchers of this study suggest, in section 5.2, an adaptation of the process inspired by the variation from Moore et al. (2013).

The seven steps of the traditional selling process are as follows: prospecting, preapproach, approach, presentation, handling objections, closing, and follow-up. A brief description of each step follows.

The *prospecting* stage is when salespeople search for new customers and aims to expand their firm's customer base (Moncrief and Marshall, 2005). This is also the stage during which sales leads are gathered and screened, resulting in the qualification of prospects (Moore et al., 2015).

The *preapproach* stage occurs after prospects have been identified (Moore et al. 2015). It includes all activities that occur after the prospecting stage up until the first contact with the candidate (Moncrief and Marshall, 2005). During this stage, salespeople are doing their research on the prospects to familiarize themselves with the customers, their needs and their buying process (Moncrief and Marshall, 2005).

The *approach* stage occurs when the first contact is established with the prospect. According to Moore et al. (2015), salespeople's objective during the approach stage should be to gain the prospect's attention, make a favorable first impression and to establish a rapport that is likely to lead to a relationship and sales.

The *presentation* stage is the main body of the sale. It may include a single presentation or multiple ones over time (Moncrief and Marshall, 2005). In the case of first-time buyers, the salespeople must provide them sufficient information so that they understand the product's benefits (Moncrief and Marshall, 2005). Accordingly, presentations may be facilitated by demonstrations.

Even though *handling objections* may be necessary at any point following the first contact, it is traditionally established to be the fifth stage of the selling process (Moore et al., 2015). This stage occurs when salespeople respond to questions and hesitancies about the product or the firm (Moncrief and Marshall, 2005).

The *Closing* stage is the point in the sale where the salesperson successfully obtains the commitment of the prospect (Moore et al., 2015). It represents the successful completion of the sales presentation (Moncrief and Marshall., 2005).

Lastly, the *follow-up* stage assumes that the sales are successfully made and occurs after the clients made their orders. This stage aims to ensure that they are happy with the

product or service (Moncrief and Marshall, 2005). During this stage, salespeople ensure customer satisfaction and look for future business opportunities with the clients (Moore et al., 2015).

### 2.4 Social media and marketing strategies

Agnihotri et al. (2012) describe salespeople's strategies aimed at routing customers' access to information using social media as "push" and "pull" strategies.

In push strategies, "salespeople push information to customers through social media that facilitate the creation and rapid deployments of networks" (Agnihotri et al., 2012, p. 336). Social media that facilitate push strategies are referred to as *network enablers* and mostly include social and professional networking platforms such as Facebook and LinkedIn (Agnihotri et al., 2012). Truong and Simmons (2010) suggest that push communications follow a more scripted flow within a one-to-many model.

In pull strategies, salespeople pull customers toward salespeople-generated content by using *content enablers*. Content enablers are social media platforms that make it easier for customers to share information and provide them with control over the information (Agnihotri et al., 2012). Blogs and microblogs are good examples of content enablers. Truong and Simmons (2010) describe pull strategies as empowering customers by allowing them to pull from a free flow and exchange of information. They also suggest that pull communications are two-ways and on a one-to-one basis or many-to-many basis.

As highlighted by Jarvinen and Taiminen (2016), content marketing is an increasingly popular pull marketing tactic in the B2B sector. Holliman and Rowley (2014, p.285) define content marketing as follows: "B2B digital content marketing involves creating, distributing and sharing relevant, compelling and timely content to engage customers at the

appropriate point in their buying consideration processes, such that it encourages them to convert to a business building outcome." Accordingly, firms use this tactic in their pull strategies to generate valuable content based on the needs of their potential buyers (Halligan & Shah, 2010; Jarvinen and Taiminen, 2016). Content marketing can be used in various formats. The most common ones are e-books, white papers, podcasts, webinars, infographics, blog texts, and social media posts (Chaffey and Smith, 2013).

When publishing content, it is not every document that will be public. Lashgari et al. (2018) revealed that firms use different approaches in communicating their technical information. As part of their communication strategy, firms can share a combination of public and gated content. More specifically, some firms will require their audience to go through a *gated process* to access high-end knowledge. Firms can adopt closer communication points with their audience to receive "tangible and measurable results, leading to the completion of goals, such as lead generation" with this gated process (Lashgari et al., 2018, p.739). The gated process will require users to share information such as their name and company name. This process provides the firms with more control over the content that is distributed and may lead to better feedback responses (Lashgari et al., 2018).

### 2.5 Buyer-Seller relationships

The buyer-seller relationships literature has embraced the relational exchange perspective over the discrete transactional one in the 1980s (Dwyer and al., 1987). The relational exchange perspective defines exchanges as the ongoing transfer of value between independent channel members (Frazier, 1999). In this regard, relationships are characterized as long-term, ongoing, interpersonal, social, and cooperative (Rajamma et al., 2011). Accordingly, face-to-face

contact represents a traditional relation element, given its interpersonal nature (Crosby et al., 1990; Marshall et al., 2012).

Among the multiple variables that influence whether long-term relationships are thriving, trust is a significant one (Doney and Cannon, 1997; Wilson, 1995). Trust involves a belief that one relationship partner will act in the best interest of the other, desire coordination, fulfill its obligation, and pull its weight in the relationship (Dwyer et al. 1987). Trust is also an excellent fit for the relational perspective because it enables them to focus on the long-term benefits. Trust in a supplier or supplier's salesperson also increases the likelihood that buyers anticipate doing business with the supplier firm in the future (Doney and Cannon, 1997). However, Doney and Cannon (1997) suggest that, in the context of supplier selection, trust should be qualified for "order qualifier" rather than "order winner." In other words, trust is needed for a supplier even to be considered as a potential partner, but it is not sufficient to compensate for better prices and reliable delivery.

There are many ways in which a supplier can build trust with a buyer. Here are a few examples suggested by Doney and Cannon (1997): willingness to customize or adapt to the buyer, engage in longer relationships, expertise and power of the salesperson, and stronger social bonds. However, these only apply to trust-building among current partners. When assessing the trustworthiness of an unknown partner, the reputation of the latter will be used as a proxy to assess trust as the other factors cannot be estimated accurately (Wilson, 1995). In relational selling context, contact intensity, is also known to influence trust (Crosby et al., 1990). Contact intensity refers to the frequency at which the salesperson communicates with the customer, either face-to-face or indirectly (Crosby et al., 1990).

Concerning that, it is not clear whether face-to-face interactions are necessary for buyer-seller relationship success. On one end, it was established that these interactions have been core to selling for years and that they facilitate trust-building by fostering the creation of personal bonds. However, higher contact intensity is easier to achieve using technologies such as social media, which could make it easier for salespeople to stay in touch because social media allows them to communicate more efficiently and to provide feedback at minimal costs (Bhimani and al., 2018). Furthermore, Marshall et al. (2012) found that face-to-face contact is being used less often by salespeople to build and maintain client relationships. According to their research, this is the case because society at large is increasingly using social media, and pressure is placed on organizations to be more cost-effective and efficient.

### 2.6 Summary of the literature on social media in sales

To conclude the literature review, the researchers put together a summary of the main articles that focus on social media in the B2B sales process (See Table 2.1). This summary reports the primary purpose of each article, along with the key findings. It also provides a brief description of the methodology adopted in each study.

Authors	Main purpose	Description	Key takeaway
Agnihotri et al.	To explain the mechanisms	Conceptual, literature	Salespeople's social media use
2012	through which salespeople's	review	can have a positive influence
	use of social media operates		on service behaviors that
	to create value		influence value creation for
			customers as well as for
			salespeople
Andersson and	To explore why and how	Empirical, multiple	B2B firms use social media as
Wikstrom 2017	(B2B) companies use social	case study;	communication tools to
	media and which users and	3 cases;	enhance customer relationships,
	stakeholders they	Within- and across-	support sales, and build their
	communicate with.	case analysis	brands. They also use social
			media as a recruiting tool, a
			seeking tool, and a product
			information tool.
Andzulis et al.	To review the role of social	Conceptual,	Explanations of the sales
2012	media in the sales force and	literature review	process with regards to social
	the sales process		media.
Itani et al. 2017	To examine the use of social	Empirical, Mixed	Firms can use social media to
	media by B2B salespeople	methodology:	gather market intelligence and
	to assist them in their job	quantitative survey –	value opportunities for their
	functions.	240 respondents;	customers. Social media is not
		qualitative – 6	predominantly used by
		interviews	salespeople.
Jarvinen and	To investigate the	Empirical, Single	Marketing automation can be
Taiminen 2016	organizational processes for	case study,	used to generate high quality

 Table 2.1: Summary of the articles on social media in B2B sales

	developing valuable and	Three-step	sales leads through behavioral
	timely content to meet	thematization	targeting and content
	customer needs and for	analysis	personalization
	integrating content		
	marketing with B2B selling		
	processes		
Marshall and al.	To explore the breadth	Empirical,	Social media has the potential
2012	of technology usage by	Qualitative study	to create an "always-on"
	sales managers and	(focus groups);	negative effect on salespeople.
	salespeople	Total of 4 focus	Also, focused on social media
		groups	used in relationship-building.
Moore et al.	Understanding the use of the	Empirical,	B2B practitioners tend to use
2013	different social media	Quantitative	media targeted at professionals
2013			
	categories among B2C and	(survey); 395	whereas their B2C counterparts
	B2B sales professionals	respondents	tend to utilize more sites
			targeted to the general public
Moore et al.	Compares B2C and B2B to	Empirical,	B2C and B2B salespeople use
2015	identify differences in how	Quantitative	social media categories to
	they use social media for	(survey); 395	different extent. Sales
	job-related tasks.	respondents	personnel also use social media
			to different extent across job
			titles. Then, social media are
			used to different extent during
			the different stages of the
			selling process.
Rodriguez et al.	To empirically test whether	Empirical,	Social media positively impacts
2012	social media affect the sales	Quantitative	sales performance.
	process and B2B sales	(survey); 1699	

performance	respondents	

### 3. Research design and methodology

The following section justifies the reasons that led this research to adopt the current research design as well as how the cases were selected and recruited. Also, it provides detailed information regarding the methods used in the analysis to ensure the quality of this study.

### 3.1 Qualitative research rationale

This research aims to shed light on the role of social media in the B2B sales process. It seeks to contribute to theory development and managerial practices that revolve around this topic. A qualitative approach is appropriate given the exploratory nature of the study, which intends to address the underwhelming literature regarding social media in the B2B selling process. While the current literature suggests a basis to understand the various functional blocks of social media (Kietzmann et al., 2011), we have yet to develop a deeper understanding of how social media can be leveraged in the B2B selling process. An exploratory research design is ideal in this situation as it can clarify ambiguities, explore nuances, provide practical insights, or lead to the discovery of potential business opportunities (Zikmund et al., 2012). Qualitative methods can also provide insights that could help to develop new or modified concepts and theories and are particularly suitable for investigating complex issues and emerging phenomena that are not adequately captured by quantitative studies.

### 3.2 Research design

This study employs a multiple case study design to explore the role of social media in the B2B selling process. According to Eisenhardt and Graebner (2007), multiple case studies designs tend to generate more robust insights than single case ones because the propositions are anchored in varied empirical evidence. It is also argued that multiple cases ensure consideration of the critical dimensions of the focal issue (Gupta et al. 2019; Homburg et al. 2012). Also, multiple cases enable researchers to assess if their findings extend beyond specific cases (Miles and Huberman, 1994).

### 3.3 Case selection

Purposive sampling was used to collect data from people involved in the selling process of B2B firms. This approach entailed identifying knowledgeable and experienced individuals who can serve as key informants, to provide deep insights into our study. Key informants are widely used in qualitative research because their inputs can help researchers achieve data saturation, theoretical saturation, or informational redundancy (Gupta et al. 2019). Potential organizations and respondents for this study were recruited using the following inclusion criteria.

- 1. The firms must be selling products or services to a B2B clientele.
- 2. Small-sized and large-sized firms from three technology-related industries (i.e., Technology—services, Technology—software, and IT consulting) were selected for this research. Firms operating in technology-related sectors were chosen because they are expected to have the resources and capabilities to use innovative technologies such as social media.

- The firms should be using at least one category of social media across their sales process. This criterion was evaluated by an assessment of the firm's presence on either of the social media platforms: LinkedIn, Facebook, Twitter, and YouTube;
- 4. The respondents must be knowledgeable and experienced with their firm's social media activities as well as with the firm's selling process. Respondents must be either sales or marketing directors, managers, or salespeople. These people represent key informants because they are involved in the selling process, use social media, and are aware of their firm's social media-related practices and objectives.

Having established the above criteria, the researchers developed a list of potential firms that qualify for the study. The researchers used their professional networks to develop a list of names of potential participants from these companies. The researchers complemented this list by conducting web searches using LinkedIn and the companies' websites. The verification to make sure that each candidate firm complied with the selection criteria of this study consisted of three steps. The first step consisted of a review of the firms' official websites to gather as much information as possible to assess their compliance with the first two criteria. We also verified with the respondents that their organization met our inclusion criteria.

The second step consisted of a research of the firms' social media presence on four social media platforms: LinkedIn, Facebook, Twitter, and YouTube. The firm had to be present on at least one of these platforms as they were only required to use one social media to qualify. These platforms were specifically chosen based on Moore et al. (2013), who found that these social media platforms are widely used in the B2B context. Additionally, these platforms are easily accessible, and this allows the researcher to quickly assess whether a candidate firm is active on these platforms. The third step consisted of contacting the potential respondents by email to confirm whether they are involved in the sales process of their firms, the extent to which they are knowledgeable about their firm's social media activities, and their willingness to participate in the study.

### 3.4 Data collection

Data for this study was gathered through in-depth interviews. The interviews were conducted in English, audio-recorded, and subsequently transcribed. Four interviews were conducted face-to-face, and three were conducted by telephone at the request of participants. The phone interview for Case #3 (C3) included two interviewees. The interviews lasted between 45 minutes to an hour. A semi-structured interview protocol was used to gather data. Follow-up questions for clarification purposes were asked by phone or email. Respondents were sales team leaders, account managers, digital marketing managers, and executives. All respondents indicated that they had prior employment experience in marketing and sales jobs at other organizations and have varying levels of experience with social media in sales and marketing. During the interviews, the researchers used probing questions to gather considerable insights from each interviewee regarding their use and understanding of social media in both professional and personal use.

We built six cases with a total of eight participants. This is consistent with the argument of Yin (1994) that six to ten cases for multiple-case studies design are usually sufficient to "provide compelling support for the initial set of proposition" to reach saturation (Zach, 2006; Zahay et al., 2018). In our study, we observed saturation after five interviews, but we conducted one additional interview to ensure that the trends and patterns we observe in the responses were identifiable, and there were no new significant findings.

Interviews were conducted using a semi-structured interview protocol. The interview protocol focuses on questions pertaining to (1) the general background of companies and respondents; (2) the social media platforms they use; (3) the intensity of social media use; (4) the reasons that motivate them to use each social media platforms (5) how social media are used across the seven steps of the selling process; (5) the benefits and challenges associated with their social media use and (6) the influence of social media on their client's behavior. To give the interviewees enough time to read and study the questions, the researchers emailed them the questionnaire along with the consent form ahead of the scheduled interview. At the beginning of the interviews, respondents were asked if they needed clarification on any aspect of the questionnaire. The data collection phase took place over the four weeks of February 2020.

#### 3.5 Data analysis

Interview outcomes were used in two types of analysis: within-case and crosscase. During the within-case analysis, each firm is treated as a separate case to recognize patterns of relationships among constructs in the preliminary model (Eisenhardt and Graebner, 2007). The within-case analysis also allowed the identification of the important factors emerging from each interview. The interviews were transcribed and then coded according to the main themes that rose from each case. The coding process was informed by the recommendation of Eisenhardt and Graebner (2007), who noted that multiple cases could be considered as discrete experiments that serve as replications, contrasts, and extensions to the emerging theory. Accordingly, the cross-case analysis highlighted similarities and differences among the cases in an attempt to validate the findings while increasing their transferability (Miles and Huberman, 1994).

### **3.6 Quality of the research design**

This section will go over the various actions taken by the researchers to ensure the quality of the research. The quality of the research is assessed using the four criteria of trustworthiness, as suggested by Guba (1981). Trustworthiness in qualitative research, which aims to ensure the rigor of the study (Morse, 2015), is evaluated through four criteria: credibility, dependability, confirmability, and transferability (Guba, 1981).

Credibility is the confidence in the truth of the findings (Guba 1981) and therefore represents the qualitative context's substitute to the quantitative approach's internal validity (Lincoln and Guba, 1985). To increase the probability that credible findings will be produced, the researchers of this study use the technique of triangulation, as suggested by Lincoln and Guba (1985). Two different modes of triangulation were used for this research. First, multiple and different sources were used to collect the data. Multiple copies of one type of source were used, meaning that multiple interviewees compose the 6 cases of this study. Also, different sources were used as secondary data, and existing literature were used to validate the information gathered in the interviews. The second mode of triangulation used for this research is multiple investigators, as the interviews were conducted by two researchers. Indeed, Lincoln and Guba (1985) argue that it is "perfectly possible to use multiple investigators as part of a team, with provisions being made for sufficient intrateam communication to keep all members moving together." (p.307). To ensure that both investigators were moving together, they made sure to follow the interview protocol. They also consulted each other and listened to the audio recording of each interview before going into another one.

**Dependability** lies in the consistency of the findings meaning that the findings of the study would be repeated if the inquiry were repeated with the same subjects in the same context (Lincoln, Guba 1985). To ensure stability in the data collection, the researchers made certain to stick to the interview protocol across the interviews. Also, all the interviews were conducted within five weeks to make sure that the research context was similar across all the interviews. Then, Lincoln and Guba make the argument that there is no credibility without dependability, and therefore "a demonstration of the former is sufficient to establish the latter" (Lincoln and Guba, 1985, p.316).

**Confirmability** represents the extent to which the findings are shaped by the respondents rather than the researcher's bias (Lincoln, Guba 1985). To optimize this study's confirmability, the researchers avoided any leading questions. Instead, they opted for probing questions and allowed the respondents to talk without interjecting. Following their responses, the researchers asked the respondents for clarification and elaboration whenever necessary. Furthermore, to ensure that the data collected reflected what the interviewees meant, follow-up questions were asked for more clarifications whenever the researchers had any doubts regarding what the participants meant.

**Transferability** determines whether the findings of this study apply to other contexts (Lincoln, Guba 1985). Lincoln and Guba (1985) argue that researchers cannot provide the external validity of a qualitative inquiry. Therefore, transferability is reached by providing a thick description of the study to allow other researches to assess whether transfer could be a possibility to their research. To ensure transferability, the within-case analysis provides clear and extensive details on each case, which will enable other researchers to have sufficient information to judge whether or not the findings of this study are relevant to their research. Furthermore, the cross-case analysis establishes the transferability of the findings. We believe that our analysis establishes the extent of the transferability of the study's findings to other contexts.

## 4. Within case analysis

### 4.1 Introduction to the cases

Six cases involving Canadian technology-based firms were studied. All six cases were engaged in B2B selling. Moreover, the selling process of each case involved social media activities. This section first describes each case in term of firm size; the product or service sold by the firm; the type of clients (i.e., B2C, B2B and B2G); an approximate number of years for which the firm has been using social media for marketing purposes according to each interviewee and; the number of social media platforms and applications used in the firms B2B selling process.

Case	Size	Product/Service	Clients/Market	Firm social media use (app. years)	# of SM platforms/apps
1	Small	SaaS	B2B/ International	8	7
2	Large	Computer software	B2B;B2C;B2G/ International	5	3
3	Small	SaaS	B2G/ National	3	5
4	Small	SaaS	B2B/ International	5	7
5	Small	IT Consulting & Training	B2B/ National	7	3

Table 4.1	1: Case	descriptions
-----------	---------	--------------

6	Large	SaaS	B2B/ International	8	1*
C 11	T 1 50 1	T	1 040 1		

Small = Less than 50 employees; Large = greater than 249 employees \*Limited to the business development function of the firm

Similarly to what has been done by Marshall et al. (2012), the researchers reviewed the interview transcripts and categorized each theme based on the similarity of focus to identify key themes. This process aimed to reduce the transcription content into a manageable set of categories that allowed the researchers to capture the main insights. Five themes emerged from the categorization: Strategy, Stages, Value, Categories, and Functions.

The strategy item relates to the description of salespeople's strategies by Agnihotri et al. (2012). This item allows the researcher to summarize how each firm uses multiple social media platforms to benefit its selling process. It outlines the social media strategy used by the firm to get customers in their sales funnel along with the complementary elements that enable such strategies. While the marketing literature generally refers to pull and push strategies, many interviewees instead identified them as inbound and outbound strategies, respectively. The *stage* item allows the researchers to highlight *when* social media is used across the selling process. It highlights the stages of the traditional sales process in which social media are used. The *value* items aim to provide further insights into *why* social media is used in the selling process. It describes how the use of social media in the sales process is beneficial to salespeople. The *categories* item is centered on the *what* of social media. It presents the different social media categories used in the sales process, along with the different platforms for each category. Lastly, the *function* item provides this study with a strong basis to further investigate how each firm leverages the known functions of social media. It describes which functional blocks of social media, as suggested by Kietzmann et al. (2011), are leveraged along the sales

process. Altogether, these items enable this study to contribute to the current marketing and sales literature by providing a deep understanding of how, when, why, and what social media is used in technology-intensive Canadian firms. A summary of the five themes is presented in Table 4.2.

Case	Strategy	Stages	Value	Categories*	Functi	ons
1	Pull	Prospecting;	Brand awareness;	SPN;	ID	X
		Preapproach;	Reduce costs;	Blogs;	CON	X
		Presentation	Increase reach;	Microblogs;	SHA	X
			Save time;	OC;	REL	-
			Lead generation;	IM	PRE	X
					REP	X
					GRP	X
2	Push	Prospecting;	Knowledge acquisition;	SPN;	ID	-
		Preapproach	Increased reach;	OC;	CON	X
			Enhance internal	IM;	SHA	X
			comm;		REL	-
			Lead generation;		PRE	X
					REP	X
					GRP	-
3	Mixed	Prospecting;	Knowledge acquisition;	SPN;	ID	X
		Preapproach;	Credibility;	Blogs;	CON	-
		Presentation;	Brand awareness;	OC;	SHA	X
		Follow-up	Structure	IM;	REL	-
					PRE	-
					REP	X
					GRP	-

4	Pull	Prospecting;	Knowledge acquisition;	SPN;	ID	Х
		Preapproach;	Brand awareness;	Blogs;	CON	X
		Presentation	Save time;	Microblogs;	SHA	X
			Enhance internal	OC;	REL	X
			comm;	IM;	PRE	-
			Training	VHS;	REP	X
					GRP	Х
5	Push	Prospecting;	Reduce cost;	SPN;	ID	Х
		Preapproach	Assess market size;	Microblog;	CON	Х
				VHS;	SHA	-
					REL	-
					PRE	-
					REP	Х
					GRP	Х
6	Push	Preapproach	Knowledge acquisition;	SPN;	ID	-
			Lead generation;		CON	-
					SHA	-
					REL	Х
					PRE	-
					REP	-
					GRP	-

\*Refer to Table 1.1 for coded categories name

## 4.2 Introduction to the key respondents

As presented in the methodology, key informants were selected as respondents to conduct this qualitative study. A summary table (See table 4.3) is given to offer the following information in regards to each interviewee: The code used to refer to them; the case to which

they are associated; their function or job title and; the intensity of their social media use for personal and business purposes. The intensity variables are based on the self-assessment of each interviewee and testify to the interviewees' compliance with the research criterion according to which they must be knowledgeable and experienced with their firm's social media activities. The intensity variables are based on two considerations: the average daily time spent on any social media platform or application and the number of different platforms and applications used.

Interviewee	Case	Function	Personal use	Business use
I1	C1	Marketing campaign coordinator	Low	Heavy
I2	C1	Sales team leader	Heavy	Heavy
I3	C2	Named account manager	Low	Heavy
I4	C3	Vice-President	Heavy	Medium
15	C3	Business Development and Marketing manager	Heavy	Heavy
I6	C4	Digital Marketing Manager	Heavy	Heavy
I7	C5	CEO	Heavy	Heavy
18	C6	Business development representative	Heavy	Неаvy

**Table 4.3: Interviewees profiles** 

### 4.3 Case #1

The following case is based on two interviews (see table 4.3 Interviewee Profile) with the two interviewees involved in different stages of C1's selling process. The first interviewee was very knowledgeable about the firm's marketing activities and everything that revolves around lead generation. The second interviewee was mostly involved in the actual

selling. Thus, the latter was very knowledgeable about the firm's practices that take place from the moment when a lead is identified up to the end of the selling process.

**Strategy:** The small-sized technology firm researched in the first case mostly used a pull strategy to attract new clients.

*I2: There is a lot of marketing efforts put toward the inbound ways of generating leads. A lot of content creation from top of the funnel to the bottom of the funnel.* 

They use a combination of social media and blog posts to share lead-generating content. There are two ways by which this content may reach their audience:

11: We try to maximize all our content with SEO strategies. So we try to be the first search results on Google or Bing, and that would be for the organic part. I would say the rest would be social media ads.

This content is expected to be helpful to their target clients and therefore lead them to interact with it:

*I1: "we try to put educational content that would help any decision-maker in the sales process. That is more top of the funnel type of content. We have been big on blog posts, white papers, and e-books."* 

Their content strategy relies on producing a variety of content that aims to assess how close the potential client is to the intention of buying. To implement this strategy, they use a combination of public and gated content.

II: we have blog posts that are public, and we have a few e-books that are gated, so you need to give more information to access it. As you get closer to an intention to buy, the content reflects how close you are to being interested in the product because we have high-level stuff about social media marketing, we write blog posts, but it has nothing to do with the software itself, and it is very specific. It does not even talk about management. We try to push people down that funnel of content and having them closer to something that talks about the product and picks their curiosity.

This combination of gated and public content helps the marketing and sales team at C1 to assess where the potential buyer is in their buying process. Gated content is especially useful in C1's selling process as it allows them to gather identifying information on potential leads to which they can then send personalized content through automated emails and targeted advertising on social media. Using analytical tools, C1 will then collect information on potential customers relative to how they interact with the content that is sent to them. This will allow them a more precise assessment of how close they are to a buying intention. Once they evaluate that the potential customer has the potential to be turned into a lead, this information is moved from the marketing team to the demand generation team, which will approach prospects.

> I2: As people are interacting with the content, different triggers take place. If it is more top of the funnel, we will not necessarily engage with them, but as they trickle down the funnel, we might have a demand generation or a sales development rep reach out to the prospect.

As for the first contact, the sales development representative will most commonly approach the prospect using traditional media (i.e., phone call or email). I2 argues that those are chosen over social media because:

*I2: The telephone is the best way to get a hold of someone. Most people that run golf courses are in the older generations. They are not big on social media, and they are usually busy at golf courses.* 

It would seem like phone calls are the best way to reach their specific audience (i.e., golf managers). This first contact is very transactional and aims to schedule another meeting with a salesperson, which will present and demonstrate the software. Once the potential client agrees to a scheduled meeting, social media are then used for the presentation and demonstration, but not elsewhere in the selling process.

**Stages:** Social media are used to a different extent in three steps of C1's selling process. To identify qualifying customers in the prospecting stage, C1 is posting on LinkedIn, Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter. These posts are made in combination with advertising using Facebook Ads and Google Ads to promote the posts and enhance the enterprise's reach. Because C1 can target people that have already interacted with their content, they can leverage the variety of lead-generating content they are producing and attract the prospects in their funnel by pulling them from the higher level content toward the gated-content. During the preapproach stage, social media are used as they are the source of information. As for the approach stage, prospects that are more promising in terms of their potential to buy are then contacted using traditional media, as described earlier. Prospects that agree to schedule a second conversation will be engaged by a salesperson using Zoom. Zoom is a videoconference platform that allows the salesperson to share their screen with the lead and provide a demonstration of their software. Following the presentation stage, social media are not used during the rest of the selling process. The quote and pricing will be sent by emails following the presentation, and all other interactions will be done over the phone. Phone is prioritized over social media once again because it is perceived to be more effective to reach C1's audience, which consists of very busy people of the "older generation."

Value: I1 mentioned that social media were most beneficial for C1 in terms of brand awareness.

*II:* (Social media) is very useful for brand awareness, so people knowing who we are and what we do. For us, social media is the best way to do that.

This is in line with their strategy which relies on attracting prospects using social media. The second interviewee from C1 also suggested that social media are great for brand awareness.

*I2: I* think (social media) is most beneficial in the initial stage of the process in terms of creating your brand image and getting people to talk.

Also, the use of a videoconference tool for the presentation stage is perceived as greatly beneficial as it carries most of the benefits of a face-to-face meeting without the disadvantages. It allows for a rich transfer of information while being cheaper than face-to-face, not limited by physical distances, and less time-consuming. Accordingly, I2 informed the researcher that videoconference tools are heavily used to conduct the sales:

*I2: most of our sales and by most I mean probably like 98 % are all done over video call* 

**Categories:** C1 uses five different categories of relationship-oriented social media concerning its selling process (See Table 4.2). Social networks, blogs, and microblogs are used for the same purpose: brand awareness. Blog posts are produced using WordPress and then shared on Facebook, LinkedIn, Twitter, and Instagram. I1 argued during the interview that this

method is a good way for the marketing team to start the conversation with their clients as it usually gets the clients to give feedback on the content and how it has been beneficial:

> I1: When we put out some content, sometimes people put in comments and sometimes they just send us back emails, so we get a bit of feedback, but most of the feedback we receive is when they will talk to us in person when they see us at trade shows or visit the office. (...)most of the comments we receive is that our content is actually actionable and usable.

We can infer that C1 can strengthen its relationships with its clients by enabling the conversation with them through social media. The extent and quality of bi-directional information exchange (i.e., mutual confiding) is known to be an important factor of tie-strength in buyer-seller relationships (Stanko et al., 2007). Stronger ties between the buyer and the seller are positively correlated to the commitment of the parties and, thus, greatly contribute to the success of the relationship (Wilson, 1995).

Online conferencing application Zoom is only used for demonstrations. Instant messaging is used in concert with the other categories of social media as it allows the different teams at C1 to collaborate. It is used to share knowledge and coordinate the different teams involved in the selling process (i.e., marketing, demand generation, and sales).

**Functions:** The identity function of social media is very important for C1's selling process. Their whole strategy relies on building their corporate brand online and expressing it to prospects. This is intimately tied to the reputation and sharing function as they build credibility for themselves to reinforce their brand image by sharing valuable content to their audience. For example, as their target market is centered around golf, their reality greatly changes according to the seasons. Thus, C1 will consider the latter when producing content:

I1: So we create a lot of material that follows the same life cycle a golf course has during the year where it is very cyclical, very seasonal, so you have content that is very actionable for certain times of the year. We try to match that content with this seasonality so that people could actually enjoy and use the same day or week the content that we are putting in front of them.

This aspect is crucial for C1 to acquire new clients as reputation is often used as a proxy for trust when a firm wants to engage with an unknown partner (Doney and Cannon, 1997). Thus, by being credible and nurturing their reputation, C1 has better chances to be considered as a trustworthy partner.

The group and conversation functions are also jointly leveraged as C1 maintains a closed group of golf operators on Facebook. Those selected members of the group are all potential and current customers for their product. C1 engages with them in conversations about strategies, news, and trends of the market. This group provides C1 with insights on its target market and opportunities to improve its service based on knowledge acquired from users. At last, C1 leverages the presence function of social media by ensuring its social presence on rating sites that compare the players of their market such as Capterra. They make sure to secure good ratings on these platforms by incentivizing their customers to get more reviews. This online presence allows them to stay competitive while also increasing their credibility once again, which is said to be of the utmost importance as their service represents a high-involvement purchase.

> I1: when we onboard a person who is a satisfied customer, we ask them to put a review on Capterra. We kind of build this trust through our very strong clients because we know word-of-mouth is very important, especially for a high involvement purchase such as software, so that works very well for us.

## 4.4 Case #2

The following case is based on a single interview (See Table 4.3). The interviewee was involved and, therefore, very knowledgeable about the whole B2B sales process of their firm. It should be noted that this firm operates in several markets and engages in B2C activities. Therefore, even though C2 is present on other social media platforms that were not included in our analysis (See Table 4.2) such as Facebook and Twitter, those social media activities will not be considered in our analysis as they are B2C-oriented

**Strategy:** This large-sized firm uses a push strategy to acquire new B2B clients. C2's salespeople are focused on selling yearly access to their software to large-sized companies. The social media strategy of this firm starts once a potential client-firm has been identified. LinkedIn Sales Navigator is used as a first step to identify the individual that should be approached and to gather as much information as possible to properly understand the potential clients' structure as well as key decision-makers.

> I3: (I look for) who is in charge of leadership, who do I need to contact, who is the decision-maker, who are the influencer. I got to map all the organization, so I go to LinkedIn first, I look up CLIENT-X, it gives me all people who work at CLIENT-X: contact name, position, and sometimes they have their contact details. I find them, I make my organization chart, and then I build my strategy based on who I need to connect with on LinkedIn.

Once the salesperson is done mapping its client's structure, they will investigate the individuals that were identified as key individuals in the previous step on a more personal level:

*I3: I look at (the key individuals), their job history, where they come from, what their background is, who else do they know, and do I know anyone who can* 

introduce me. LinkedIn is powerful for that. I can see if anybody at C2 knows the individual on a personal level.

The main goal here is to use social media to find a common connection with a decision-maker from the targeted firm to be introduced to the latter by someone they already knows. According to I3, this is an excellent way to bring in new accounts. It should be considered that C2's target clients are large firms and that according to I3, their average deal exceeds 100 000\$ when brought to a yearly basis.

**Stages:** In the prospection stage, I3 uses LinkedIn Sales Navigator to analyze target firms and identify key stakeholders that would represent potential clients. Once the target client has been successfully identified, the preapproach stage involves a lot of research on LinkedIn using once again the Sales Navigator, as discussed previously. Social media are also used to try and get an introduction through a common connection to increase the probability of a successful approach. Then, social media are used to a minimal extent throughout the rest of the selling process. On rare occasions, when the salesperson is unable to get an introduction to the decision-maker they is targeting, they will use traditional media for their approach (i.e., email or phone). If this first attempt is not successful, they will then try and reach the decision-maker through the LinkedIn message system before making a second attempt via email. Thus, social media are used as a backup plan if the usual methods do not work.

*I3: Once we have identified a preferred method of communication, whether it is phone or email, most likely it is emails, I do not really go back to LinkedIn after that.* 

I3 mentioned that following the initial contact with the client, the only social media they uses is an online conferencing platform when they cannot meet their clients in person due to physical distance and limited time. In this situation, they will use online conferencing so that the client can still see them. I3 is positive that it is beneficial for relationship-building purposes that their client can see their face and hear their voice because they will be more likely to trust them if they know them. This is consistent with the argument from Doney and Cannon (1997), according to which suppliers build trust with buyers by building strong social bonds. Doney and Cannon (1997) also suggest that trust in a supplier's salesperson increases the likelihood that buyers anticipate doing business with the supplier firm in the future (Doney and Cannon, 1997).

I3 also mentioned sharing content with clients following the sales pitch through an in-house collaborative platform similar to SharePoint, which we will refer to as X01. This platform is used to share the presentation that was used for the sales pitch with the client. There are two reasons why this is used over email: (1) Unlike emails; the platform is not limited in terms of attachment size; (2) It allows the salespeople to track and analyze how the presentation is used. More details on this aspect will be provided in the next sub-section.

**Value:** I3 argued that social media are most useful at the beginning of the sales process, more specifically, before the approach. It allows them to learn more about the decision-makers they wants to approach, as mentioned in the previous sub-section. As for the approach stage itself, I3 was quite clear that social media is rarely used for this purpose.

As mentioned in the previous sub-section, one of the major benefits that social media brings in I3's selling process is that they allow them to gather valuable information on their clients' needs and, therefore, to be better prepared when they meets with them for a second meeting. Here is a great example of how I3 can leverage social media in pair with analytics tools:

13: I submitted a presentation an RFP (request for proposal) with CLIENT-S. I shared all the RFP documents and presentations with them as they were going

through the evaluation process. I saw what pages on my presentation they were going at, I saw that they spent two hours on my pricing page, 3 hours on this piece of content which talked about AB-testing versus they spend three hours on this content about journey management. As I understand what is most important to them, I can reposition my marketing or my position, so it is huge payoffs for me. I am more prepared to have a conversation with customers based on the information I am sharing with them and the analytics.

I3 is positive that social media can be beneficial to prepare for meetings with customers, as discussed in the previous example. However, social media has limited applications to them following the approach as they feels like face-to-face is better to build a relationship with the client:

I3: as I continue down the sale cycle because I built that personal relationship with them and their trust, I feel like you do not want to have a digital platform between you and your customer, and you want to always have a personal relationship with them.

Even though they largely sees face-to-face as superior to social media for relationship building, I3 also mentioned that they would sometimes resort videoconferencing platform BlueJeans since they has clients all across Canada:

*I3: I cannot be there all the time, but I want to be in front of their face I want them to see my face and recognize my voice just again to take the communication personal with them just do not want to be a guy on the phone* 

We can infer from the two previous statements that strategies integrating social media to face-toface are beneficial as social media remediates to its counterpart's weaknesses. Videoconferencing is a good alternative to face-to-face as it eliminates the physical boundaries and is still viable for relationship building. However, as suggested by I3, face-to-face remains vital to have a personal relationship with the clients and, therefore, should not be entirely replaced by social media.

**Categories:** I3 uses three categories of social media. LinkedIn is the only social and professional networking platform they uses. It is only used for the preapproach stage where they gathers information on the clients they targets. Instant messaging platform Slack is used for internal communication with peers:

13: I have really started valuing the tool Slack because it kind of disconnects the professionalism of my email. (...) Slack is a nice platform, less time-consuming. It is quick, it just takes off barriers to communication.

Slack is used at C2 for internal purposes only. It allows I3 to collaborate and exchange information much more quickly with colleagues, thus saving them time. I3 then uses BlueJeans as a videoconferencing platform as discussed in the previous sub-section

**Functions:** While our secondary research revealed that C2 is active on several social networking platforms such as Facebook, LinkedIn and Twitter, I3 did not mention anything about C2 using social media to build the brand's identity when asked about the selling process of their firm. This is most the activities we noticed are B2C related. I3 uses the conversation function of social media via instant messaging for internal communications and BlueJeans for external ones. Instant messaging is more fitting for internal exchanges as they allow to exchange content very quickly and do not require a formal format, unlike emails. As for videoconferencing, they allow the client to see their face and hear their voice, which are key elements for them to build a relationship with them. The reputation function is also a significant

one in the case of C2. They use social media to share reports of their industries produced by external firms (i.e., Forrester and Gartner), which attest that they are a leader in their industry. This is also related to the *presence* function as being included in such reports is a great way to build credibility for the brand and maintain barriers to entry in their market as newer players are not featured in such reviews:

13: One thing you want to build is trust (...) how do you build trust? You got to be consistent with something over a period of time. At the beginning of the sales cycle, you do not have time to build successful consistency over a period of time because you are trying to sell something over a short period of time. A quick way to get trust is by credibility. Credibility is a factor of trust, and a very quick way to build trust with a customer is to showcase where you sit in the Market, and this Forrester report or Gartner report is an instant way to (show where we are). It is a way to just bypass 95% of the market.

# 4.5 Case #3

The following case is based on a single interview with two interviewees (See Table 4.3). I4 was most knowledgeable about the why behind the social media activities of the firm; in other words, the strategies. I4 was greatly complemented by I5 as the latter was very knowledgeable about the actual use in the daily activities. I5 is directly involved in C3's selling process and therefore knows a lot about the stages of the selling process along with the platforms that are used.

**Strategy:** C3's marketing strategy has been reviewed and refined to fit its target customers properly. C3's clients are Canadian municipalities, and among those, they have identified two very different personas. The first one represents the "*new generation*" and is

composed of young managers who are very technology-intensive. When talking about reaching these customers, I4 was very clear about the necessity of using social media:

*I4: depending on the persona that the customer falls into, if it is the newer generation that is coming into municipalities, it is non-negotiable. We absolutely have to have this social media support.* 

The second type of customer with which C3 interacts is quite the opposite. This second type of customer represents "*women of the older generation*" and is composed of managers who avoid social media. The gap between these two categories of customer greatly influences C3's strategies:

14: (the older generation customer) is uncomfortable on her computer. She definitely does not have social media. It is a very different thing. She wants us to mail her our one-pager, our marketing sheets. It still gets used but in a very different way, so depending on the persona of the customer we are targeting, the amount of social media required dramatically varies, and as a result, we have to do both.

Due to the focus of this study, the analysis of this case will be mostly centered on the activities and practices that target the "*new generation*" customers. However, it should still be noted that social media brings an extra layer of complexity for firms in this situation:

*I4: I would say (social media) just added complexity of having to do the old school selling and the new way of selling depending on who our person is* 

C3 is currently using a mixed approach, using both pull and push initiatives. While mixed, their approach is heavier on the push side of things in terms of bringing new customers into its sales funnel:

*I4:* We want to build that inbound strategy for marketing, but currently, we do a lot of cold calls to get our clients we lead with sales and then follow up with marketing literature.

Their pull activities aim to maintain brand awareness and provide valuable content to prospective and current clients such as company news and ways to use their product. Social media also helps their push strategy by supporting the message their sales team is communicating to the customers and by making people aware of their brand. As their client acquisition strategy revolves around cold calls, salespeople at C3 inevitably get to leave a lot of voicemails and emails to people that do not know them personally. Thus, I5 is positive that social media is an important piece of the puzzle for this strategy to be successful:

15: If they are able to stumble upon some of our social media and they see we have a strong brand image and a good looking product with good features, then they are more likely to trust us or call us back.

C3 uses a mixed approach through which pull and push initiatives complement each other. C3's marketing strategy is also complemented by marketing automated platforms to get the most benefit out of their social media activities. First, they use the automated email platform *MailChimp* to share their blog posts with their current clients. This practice is intended to enhance their brand awareness initiatives by increasing the visibility of their posts among a valuable audience (i.e., current customers). They also use the marketing platform HubSpot through which they can track and gather information on the content they send:

> 15: if we see someone who starts opening our email four or five times in one day well, then that is a cue for us to maybe call them the next day. We use that

marketing as a support piece. It gives us intelligence on when we should go to close and where we think the customer is in the sales cycle.

The marketing automated platforms complement the brand awareness initiatives on social media to ultimately feed the sales team with valuable insights on who and when to approach.

Stages: In terms of prospecting, the marketing automated platform *HubSpot* is used in concert with social media to allow C3 to identify customers who are likely to buy from them. As for the preapproach, I4 mentioned that their primary tool for research is LinkedIn. Facebook is also used for this purpose but to a much more limited extent. However, since their target audience is not always active on social media, this is not always a reliable source of information for them. Then, the approach is mostly made using traditional media. While it was mentioned that a salesperson from C3 once successfully reached out to a new client via LinkedIn, this practice was characterized as a "potential sales tool for the future," given that it only happened once. Then, videoconferencing platform GoToMeeting is used for presentations and demonstrations. They use it to make a demonstration of their software to clients and qualify GoToMeeting of "very important" to their sales process. Social media is not used in either to handle objections or close deals. Following the sales, C3 follows-up by sharing marketing content with their clients, as discussed in the previous sub-section, to increase the likelihood that they will repeat business in the future.

**Value:** Given her strategic role at C3, I4 argued that social media is most valuable to the sales process because it enables the firm to build its credibility. This is crucial to C3 because as I4 said:

*I4: because we sell to municipalities, one of the things that is important for us is we want to be recognized as a trusted advisor. (...) We use social media to build our credibility as a trusted advisor.* 

I5 has a different perspective, given that they is more involved in the selling itself. According to them, social media is essential to spread their brand image for potential clients to call them back once they leave a message. Other than that, the two interviewees from C3 emphasized how valuable the intelligence they get from *HubSpot* combined to social media is to their selling process and that the latter bring much structure to their selling process:

*I4: I think without Hubspot our sales process would be very messyI5: Yes, we would not have the structure and the details we have today withoutHubspot* 

Social media, more specifically LinkedIn, also represents a valuable tool to recruit new employees.

**Categories:** They use four categories of social media at C3. Social networking platforms Facebook and LinkedIn are used to share content and research information on clients before approaching them. Then, the blogging platform WordPress, is used to create and share their content. The third category of social media they use is instant messaging. Skype for business is used for internal communication between staff members. The videoconferencing platform GoToMeeting is used by C3 to demonstrate the products remotely.

**Functions:** The identity function of social media is arguably the most important function for C3. This is because it supports not only their selling process as discussed earlier, but also their objective as a firm:

*I4: our goal as a company is to become a tech leader in Alberta and recognized in Canada, so we are utilizing social media to leverage that.* 

The identity function is also tightly related to the reputation function because their strategy revolves around spreading awareness of their brand as technology leaders to build up the credibility of the firm. Credibility is key for this firm because it is a critical factor in their clients' (i.e., Canadian municipalities) buying process. As for the sharing function, social media are used daily to exchange information on clients, mainly through SharePoint internally.

## 4.6 Case #4

The following case is based on a single interview (See Table 4.3). I6 is a very savvy social medial user and has been involved in every stage of the selling process at C4 in the last years. They was very knowledgeable about the different applications and technicalities of social media and how they can be applied to enhance their firm's selling process and overall performance.

**Strategy:** C4's strategy is geared around converting a high proportion of their leads rather than creating a very large number of leads:

I6: it is nice to have a few more resources to help out if you are filling that bucket with leads, but you want to make sure it is not leaking.

They use a pull strategy via which they attract customers in their funnel using social media posts and advertising. The strategy is based on problem awareness. C4 will build their content around problems that their target audience are likely to encounter to pick their curiosity:

I6: It is problem awareness in the ad or social media post that drives to either a single piece of content, whether it is a blog post or a guide that then pushes you

into a product page where the goal is to start a free trial. It is always like: this is a problem that you have, come see why we are going to solve that problem.

This strategy is likely to attract relevant customers as it attracts people who have a problem that C4's software can solve. Getting people to install their free trial is key to C4's success, as I6 believes that 60% of the people that install it become customers by the end of the trial. Similarly to the gated content strategy, C4 provides free trials of their product in exchange for information. This information is automatically received via the app store used to sell their software:

I6: If you are a store and you start the install process with C4, after you click that "add an app" or "install" button, there is an information exchange that happens automatically because we are a certified app through the Big Commerce or the Shopify App Store.

The information that is shared pertains to the buyer firm's performance and size among others. Then, potential clients are classified into buckets. C4 will review the information they received from the app store to classify the clients according to multiple factors, such as the average number of orders that clients do in a month. Following the installation of the free trial, C4 will send an automated email to every potential client to thank them and give them a heads up regarding what they should expect in the following 14 days. This is intended to make the customer more comfortable with the software and to reassure them that the installation process is working properly. Then, customers that were classified in "higher tiers" will be directly contacted by the sales team during their free trial through a phone call. If the client does not answer the phone, C4 will send the client an email to try and get a hold of them. This direct contact attempt aims to schedule another meeting via videoconferencing platform Zoom for a product demonstration.

As for the "lower tiers" customers that are not directly contacted following the installation, they will be retargeted by automated emails via a marketing automated platform if they decide not to purchase the software by the end of their trial:

I6: If you go through the trial and have not subscribed, then it is a wind back automation campaign focused on: this is why you need (our service), this is why you should come back.

C4 also takes action to target people that interacted with their content without installing the free trial. They will retarget these potential customers via ads on social media for up to four weeks to try and get them to install the free trial.

**Stages:** During the prospecting stage, C4 identifies potential customers by attracting them with its lead-generating content. Reddit, Twitter, Facebook, and LinkedIn are all used to a different extent for potential customers to be lead into C4's funnel using the strategy described earlier. Each of the platforms will be discussed in detail in the "Categories" subsection. For the preapproach, potential customers that reach the free trial are asked for identifying information that will allow the sales team to classify them into tiers. This information, which will help the sales team to know more about each lead, is gathered via C4's website. Social media are therefore used indirectly as it is the posts and ads on social media that redirect the client on the web page that asks for the client's information. Then, phone calls and emails will be used for the approach stage to schedule a videoconference meeting for a demonstration of the software. Phone calls are prioritized for the approach because:

*I6: If you are able to get them on the phone, it is a lot harder for them to shut you down or ignore you if they actually have you on the line.* 

On the other hand, videoconferencing is preferred for the presentation because it allows salespeople at C4 to easily record the sales pitch or demonstrations and digitally save them. These recorded demonstrations can then be used for training and improvement purposes:

I6: All of our demos are recorded, and then once a week, there is a sales review session where everyone watches one of their demos, and then people give feedback and constructive criticism.

Following the demonstrations, social media are not used very much in the rest of the sales process. Sales presentations are sent to potential clients via emails, and then the rest of the interactions are mostly done over the phone as this channel is preferred by most clients.

**Value:** When asked about how social media is most beneficial to the sales process at C4, here is how I6 responded:

*I6: The ability to generate awareness and some sort of lead momentum with a very targeted group of people. It is one of the best ways to get in front of people.* 

I6 also suggested that social media are very valuable as they allow them to save time and to collaborate efficiently with their colleagues without needing to be physically close to one another:

I6: I work from home once or twice a week, so we live on Slack. It is absolutely key. (...) ColleagueX started last month, and she is gone to Spain for four months. She does not need to be here. We chat with her every day.

As C4's office is located in Canada, this brings home the idea that instant messaging and videoconferencing platforms allow firms such as C4 to implement flexible "work from home" policies as it enables colleagues to collaborate from all around the world by working remotely.

The interviewee also argued that this benefit positively impacts the talent pool that is accessible to C4:

*I6:* By not being remote, we would be limiting ourselves from a talent pool perspective, especially on the engineering side.

When asked about specific challenges that could relate to long-distance collaboration, I6 suggested:

16: I think one challenge if you go more remote is that it is difficult to reproduce that sort of "water cooler" chat environment. It is little things like some questions that you feel uncomfortable to type. Whether it is about the tone, you do not want to sound rude, or the question seems so small, and instead of just turning around to ask, now you have to type it in and engage on the thing.

**Categories:** They use six different categories of social media at C4: moderated web community, microblogs, social and professional network, video hosting/sharing, videoconferencing and instant messaging. Moderated web community Reddit is used to gather knowledge on their audience as well as to create awareness among them:

I6: I think Reddit is a great place to have some pretty honest conversations on the business side of things about products, conferences, and to really get in front of a niche audience. This is more as a user less as an advertiser. In our business, we are serving people that use specific platforms like Shopify, Bigcommerce, or Quickbooks Online. So paying attention to those subreddits lets me get a pulse on what is the conversations that matter to the people that are using the platforms

that I ultimately want us to sell to. It can help me with how do they talk and what is on their mind.

Reddit is also used for content promotion:

*I6: Reddit can also be a solid avenue for content promotion if you do it properly.*(...) *Reddit is also a very popular ecosystem for the people that we are trying to sell into.* 

It can be inferred from this quote that while moderated web community can be beneficial to promote content among niche communities, specific skill sets are required for it to be successful. Microblogging platforms Instagram and Twitter are used for very different purposes. Instagram is mostly used for recruiting purposes:

*I6:* We see Instagram as a recruiting channel, so we try and promote a lot of our culture, activities, and fun things. We are not really ever talking about our product there.

On the other hand, Twitter is rather used for brand awareness and advertisement purposes as well as to be aware of what is going on in the firm's targeted community:

I6: If you mix being active on Twitter and Reddit, you get a real pulse of what is going on in specific communities. (...)Twitter is great for awareness, not to drive an action. (...)Twitter ads are great for awareness, not great for a direct response if it is a B2B client decision-making thing.

Social networking platforms Facebook and LinkedIn are also used for different purposes. Facebook is used for advertising, but also to exchange information with specific groups of experts, which will be discussed in further detail in the next sub-section. LinkedIn is used for two different purposes. Firstly, it is used to share and advertise posts, as described in the strategy section. Secondly, LinkedIn is used to learn more about what is going on in the community. It is also used as a complement to Reddit and Twitter and, thus, to spot upcoming threats or opportunities.

Video hosting/sharing platform YouTube has been used mostly to build partnerships with content creators rather than for content sharing purposes. While scouting C4's YouTube channel, the researchers came across a few videos sharing customer success stories as well as information on their products and how it can be used. However, there were very few videos on the channel, and the last publication was five months old. I6 gave us more detail on the YouTube situation:

> I6: YouTube is something that we are lagging on any sort of publishing. It is more of a resource thing. Video just always seems to take more work, but something that is interesting is to look at the guides or tutorials that are being produced for people and is there an opportunity for us to connect with a content creator, for example, see if they can promote our product in some way.

So as they lack the resources and expertise to post videos regularly, C4 switched to a partnership strategy in which they look for content creators that produce content on YouTube that is related to their audience and try to sponsor them to create awareness around their services.

Videoconferencing platform Zoom is used for internal collaboration. It allows colleagues to work remotely and still consistently collaborate, assist in meetings, and even provide feedback on recorded sales pitch. Zoom is also used to demonstrate the products to clients. At last, instant messaging application Slack is heavily used for internal communication as it facilitates collaboration while working from home, as discussed previously.

Another insight that stood out from the analysis of the different social media categories used by C4 is that different platforms of the same category can be used for very different purposes, as displayed in the examples of Twitter and Instagram or Facebook and LinkedIn.

**Functions**: C4 leverages the reputation function of social media to build their credibility and be seen as trustworthy. Their ads and social media post often include customer success stories which focus around explain how C4's software was able to solve the customer's problem. Then, as introduced earlier, Facebook is used to access specific of experts related to the market they target:

I6: What we have got out of Facebook is activity in closed groups specifically for developers of Shopify, Big Commerce, and Quickbooks Online. We can share questions, understand which channels are working, or meet app developers for potential cross-promotion.

Access to specific groups of experts allows C4 to acquire new knowledge and also offers the potential to find new business partners. To follow-up on the partnership potential, here is another quote from I6:

I6: We have used social media to establish contact with other companies for some co-marketing opportunities. For example, last year, we produced an e-book for black Friday and Cyber Monday to help online store owners prepare for that busy time of year. We had three other non-competitive partners: one for the backup thing, one might be doing the shipping, and one might be doing inventory management. Thus, social media allowed C4 to create new relationships with other businesses to seize new opportunities. As discussed in the following citation, social media enabled these new partnerships:

*I6:* We do not have a large conference presence. There are not a lot of conferences for us to go to meet these partners. So yes, I would definitely say social media has been key in helping to build (these partnerships).

The sharing function is also an important one for C4. First, customers do share their impressions on C4's software via comments in the different app stores. This feedback is vital for them as it can be leveraged to improve the firm's message:

I6: we had 900 reviews. You read through them, and then you have 900 examples of people telling you what they loved about your product or how they liked that thing, and then that helps inform your messaging.

It is very valuable for C4 to have all this feedback about how their product has helped people since their content strategy is focused on informing people about how they can solve their problem.

Then, the conversation function of social media is also vastly used by C4. Whether it is to allow them to start a new conversation on Reddit or simply to read through conversations on Facebook, LinkedIn, or Twitter; social media allows C4 to" feel the market's heartbeat." When asked about how this "market's heartbeat" could be leveraged, I6 responded that this is valuable to learn more about the methods that prove to be successful on social media.

I6: Which hashtags should we be using for social media posts of ours? What formats of posts are getting higher engagement? Are people using an image or a video? Is it just a block of text, or is it a couple lines spaced out? (...) There are

benefits to seeing how people respond to other posts, and then, you want to mirror the ones that do well and shy away from the other ones.

## 4.7 Case #5

The following case is based on a single interview (See Table 4.3). As I7 is the founder and CEO of C5, they is very knowledgeable about the firm's social media practices. They also has two master degrees from two different countries, along with multiple certifications in IT and related domains. It is safe to say that I7 is an expert in information technologies and related good practices, which brings great credibility to the insights they brought to this study.

**Strategy:** C5 uses a push strategy to sell IT consultancy and training services. The strategy of the firm relies on building the brand image and reputation on social media using advertising and social media posts. The credibility of the person that is in charge of approaching the clients was also mentioned to be very important to generate new business:

*I7: if I find some person whom I want to talk to, it is almost guaranteed that if this person does not know me, this person will not give me business.* 

I7 shared with the researcher that personal reputation and credibility can be built on social media by sharing expertise. An example of relevant content to demonstrate expertise and thus acquire visibility was "tweeting on trends and best practices in the industry."

**Stages:** Social media are only used in the first two steps of C5's selling process. Firstly, LinkedIn is used for prospecting purposes. As expressed in the following quote, the social networking platform is used as a replacement for job searching engine:

> I7: For me, to find these (clients), I used to look in job search engines like Monster. This time is over. Now we are really into LinkedIn. We are searching and then finding profiles on LinkedIn.

Thus, LinkedIn is used to identify new clients. Then, it can also be used to learn more about these prospects before approaching them. When asked if they ever used social media to learn more about people before approaching them, they said: "It is an instinct. Before I deal with anyone, I read their whole profile."

We can infer from this statement that social media are very frequently used to research prospects and learn about them. From this point on, social media is not used in C5's selling process. Furthermore, I7 even suggested that approaching clients using social media does not work because "people are over solicited, so they are not answering."

Value: Social media are much cheaper than other tools. For example, YouTube allows to host training videos for free. While the creation of the video is not free and requires specific skills, the social media part that allows sharing it with a restricted group of people via the private function of YouTube is free. Another example is that social networks such as LinkedIn can be a free alternative to the job search engine, which requires users to pay, as mentioned previously. Another benefit of social media is that it allows firms to assess the specific market size and to get a better grasp of the players operating in these markets:

17: Yesterday, I ran the search, and I noticed the trend that there is a lot of new players in business relationship and management in Montréal. Then I looked in Toronto, and there were also a lot. I am checking every six months, and I noticed that this is useful because it gives me the market.

**Categories:** Video hosting/sharing platform YouTube is not used in C5's selling process itself, but to host some of their product (i.e., online courses). YouTube is also used for advertising to build the firm's brand image. Social networking platform LinkedIn is used for

promotion, advertising as well as prospecting for new clients and gathering information on them before the actual approach (preapproach). Microblogging platform Twitter is used to share information about trends to build credibility and also to learn about these trends and best practices from other experts.

**Functions:** C5 leverages the identity function of social media as they use this technology to build and express their corporate brand through advertising, blog posts, and microblog posts. This is intimately related to the reputation function since, as previously established in this case, the credibility of the salesperson is essential for successful approaches. Then, the group function is also leveraged by I7 as they is personally running a closed community of experts. This restricted group of experts allows them to have conversation related to trends and best practices of the industry.

## 4.8 Case #6

The following case is based on a single interview (See Table 4.3). I8's role at C6 is essentially to generate new business with existing clients at C6. They focuses on upselling and cross-selling to current clients. Therefore, they brings a different perspective to this study as they is not looking to bring new clients to the firms as opposed to the previous interviewees. Furthermore, they is only involved in the prospecting, preapproach, and approach stages of their firm's selling process. In fact, their job is to open the conversation, and once the clients suggest that they is interested, I8 will hand off the client to an account executive for the presentation. Unfortunately, the researchers of this study were not able to interview an account executive from C6 to complete this I8's interview. The researchers decided to keep this case for its contribution to the business development aspect of the selling process. This case will also offer the researchers another opportunity to validate previous findings.

**Strategy:** I8 works in a business development division of C6 that focuses on generating new business with current clients. They uses a push strategy during which they will use the LinkedIn sales navigator to prospect for new opportunities with existing clients:

*I8: LinkedIn is our primary tool for prospecting. To create different account lists or finding what kind of position my prospects might be in or finding people under certain titles. Sales Navigator is the easiest way for me to do that.* 

Once they targeted the right person and has gathered sufficient information to approach the latter, they will follow-up with phone calls or emails, preferably.

**Stages:** I8 uses social media in every step of the selling process they is involved in (i.e., prospecting and preapproach). As discussed previously, LinkedIn is used to find the right people to approach. It is also used to learn more on the latter:

18: LinkedIn is a good place to gather research on your prospects, to get information that you otherwise would not be able to get as it is purely just available on social media.

Once I8 has enough information to make their approach, they will prioritize traditional media (phone or email). However, if the latter are not successful in approaching the client, they may resort to social media:

*I8: Occasionally, if there is a high-quality contact with whom I am not able to connect with over email or over the phone, I will try to connect with them on LinkedIn. That at least gives them some familiarity, so the next time I email them, they have a better understanding of who I am.* 

Thus, social media can be used to let a customer know who you are before engaging with them through more direct channels. This exchange of personal information is inferred to be beneficial since relationships are known to be interpersonal in relational exchanges (Rajamma et al., 2011).

**Value:** According to I8, social media are most beneficial to the selling process as it makes it easier to find the clients and to get information on them:

18: if I did not have (social media), I am not sure what I would be doing to be honest because it is a really easy way to find certain people under certain titles or teams or divisions. It definitely helps my job a lot.

**Category:** The only social media that I8 uses in their work tasks is the social networking platform LinkedIn.

**Functions:** The relationship is leveraged by I8 when they uses LinkedIn to establish a personal connection with their target client for the latter to be more familiar with them when they tries to approach them subsequently.

# 5. Cross case analysis

Following the within-case analysis of the six cases, the themes drawn from the cases will be compared and contrasted to identify similarities and differences across the cases. Subsequently, these similarities and differences will be linked to extant literature to give rigor to the research findings (Eisenhardt, 1989; Eisenhardt and Graebner, 2007). Wherever it is appropriate, propositions will be made.

## 5.1 Strategy

The different social media strategies discussed in the cases can be brought down to three strategies: Pull, push, and mixed strategies. These strategies relate to the two themes of social media use highlighted by Agnihotri et al. (2012): digital content creation and networkbased interaction. In the case of pull strategies, most cases seemed to have adopted a strategy that fitted what was presented by Agnihotri et al. (2012). The strategies were about creating leadgenerating content and sharing it on digital platforms to bring potential clients into the firm's sales funnel. This content was followed by increasingly narrow and personalized content aimed at the prospects and even personalized emails. In the case of push strategies, the strategies seemed to consist of two layers. As suggested by Truong and Simmons (2010), communication in push strategies was more general and on a one-to-many basis. These communications also took place through network enablers, as suggest by Agnihotri et al. (2012). However, a pattern was identifiable across the social media posts and advertisements used as communication vehicle in push strategies. The communications were mostly focused on building the brand image and credibility of the firm. Furthermore, salespeople from firms using push strategies were also found to use social media to research their prospects specifically. They identify relevant stakeholders and gather information on them to increase the chance of a successful approach. Rather than letting the clients come to them, they go to the client. LinkedIn is largely used for information gathering, and then face-to-face, phone calls, and emails are used for direct approaches.

#### 5.2 Stages

As discussed in the literature review, "the traditional selling process has evolved and transformed due to several influences, including technological advances (Moncrief and Marshall, 2005; Moore et al., 2015). Therefore, many variations of the process have been proposed over the last years, and no consensus seems to have been reached in the sales literature. To anchor the findings of this research in a pragmatic model of the selling process, the researchers did not specifically mention any steps of the process in the interview protocol. Instead, they asked the interviewees to describe how social media is used across their whole selling process. The responses were first analyzed according to the traditional selling process. Then, an evolved model is proposed based on the explanations from the in-depth interviews that compose this study.

Moore et al. (2015) suggested that the preapproach and approach stage should be collapsed into the "initial contact" stage. However, this suggestion does not seem to be a good fit in the context of social media study. Social media is used in the preapproach stage for every single case studied in this research. Oppositely, social media is either not used at all or exceptionally used to approach clients. Thus, we conclude that these steps should be treated separately when studying social media in the context of B2B sales.

Then, to the exception of one case, each interviewee suggested that they would be familiarizing themselves and gathering information on their prospects (i.e., preapproach) right as they would identify them (i.e., prospecting). Firms operating pull strategies often exchange identifying information for content, and therefore information is gathered on the prospects just as they are identified. As for firms operating push strategies, platforms such as LinkedIn allow them to identify the stakeholders to approach and to gather information on them at the same time. Accordingly, we suggest collapsing the prospecting and preapproach stages into a single step. Andzulis et al. (2012) also regrouped the prospecting and preapproach stages in their study on social media in the selling process. The collapsed stage was labeled "Understanding the customer." We decided to keep the traditional terms and simply label it "Prospecting and preapproach" to make it easier to relate to.

# 5.2.1 Prospecting and preapproach:

For each case of this study, social media was heavily used for prospecting and preapproach purposes, which is consistent with Moore et al. (2013). Depending on the strategy, prospects are either attracted or identified using social media. In each case, LinkedIn played a key role in the firm's strategies. In push strategies, LinkedIn Sales Navigator is used to target specific stakeholders, understand the client firm's structure, and to find common contacts that could provide an introduction. In pull strategies, LinkedIn is used as a channel to share leadgenerating content. It is also used as a platform for advertisement.

#### 5.2.2 Approach:

Moore et al. (2013) argue that "Salespeople appear to use (social media) most for prospecting and making the initial contact and then for post-sale follow-up." (Moore et al. 2013) To fully understand this statement, it is necessary to consider that Moore et al. (2013) refer to "initial contact" as the preapproach and approach stages. As mentioned earlier, this study supports the claim that salespeople heavily use social media in the prospecting and preapproach stages. However, the six cases on which this study is based suggest that social media is rarely used to approach customers. All interviewees mentioned that phone calls and emails were mostly used to approach B2B clients and that social media would only serve as a last resort, given that they were not able to reach the potential client. The great majority of the cases avoided using social media approach customers for multiple reasons. Among them, the fact that clients are seen as over-solicited online as well as the fact that direct contact through traditional media or face-toface was better suited for trust-building. Given that the approach stage is the salesperson's opportunity to establish a rapport that is likely to lead to a relationship and sales (Moore et al., 2015), trust-building is critical at this point in the sales process.

## 5.2.3 Presentation:

Out of the six cases, four of them use social media for presentation. They use online conferencing platforms to do their demonstrations. These platforms allow salespeople to be seen and heard by the clients no matter the geographical distance between the two. Thus, it offers some of the face-to-face benefits, while significantly increasing the reach of a salesperson. Moreover, it greatly enhances the salesperson's efficiency as they saves much time, given that they does not have to travel to meet their customers. However, it should be noted that the cases in which social media is used for presentation purposes all sell digital products or services. Therefore, it is possible that the use of social media for presentation purposes only applies to firm commercializing digital products.

#### 5.2.4: Objection, Closing, and follow-up:

For these later stages of the selling process, five out of the six cases suggested that social media is not used very much. As suggested by I3:

*I3: as I continue down the sale cycle, because I built that personal relationship with them and their trust, I feel like I do not want to have a digital platform between my customer and me. I want to always have a personal relationship.*"

While our research suggests that social media are not used in these stages, other researches such as Moore et al. (2013) and Moore et al. (2015) suggest otherwise. Given the bigger sample size of these quantitative studies and the fact that ours is limited to technology-intensive firms, we recognize that it is possible that social media could be used in objection, closing, and follow-up stages. However, it should also be considered that both these studies adopted a quantitative methodology, and respondents were asked to "check all that applies." Therefore, these studies do not provide more insights as to why and how social media are used in these three stages.

## 5.3 Value

When asked about how social media is most useful in the B2B sales process, the responses seemed to be influenced by the strategy in which the respondents were involved. The three interviewees involved in pull strategies propose that social media is most useful to create brand awareness. Then, two of the three interviewees involved in push strategies argued that social media is most useful for prospecting purposes. At last, the interviewees operating a mixed strategy proposed that social media is best to build credibility and to create brand awareness.

All 6 cases researched in this study also revealed that social media is beneficial to the B2B selling process because it allows salespeople to access more information on their potential clients that would not be available otherwise. Concerning this, four firms out of the six cases mentioned using some sort of analytical tool to track this information that social media allows them to access. For example, HubSpot is used by C1, C3 and C4 to track potential leads that interact with the firm's content online. This allows them to assess better how close the potential client is to a buying intention and therefore increase the chances of a successful approach.

Three interviewees also suggest that social media is very valuable as it allows the marketing and sales team to save time daily. It allows workers to complete their tasks faster. Here is a shortlist of the other ways in which social media is said to be beneficial: reduce costs, easily reach customers located at great geographical distance, helps to be better prepared to meet customers, lead generation and, facilitate working remotely.

# **5.4 Categories**

This section discusses the different social media categories that are used across the cases, as well as the specific platforms that are used. Here is a table that summarizes the categories and platforms used in each of the cases:

	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6
Social and	Facebook,	LinkedIn	Facebook,	Facebook,	LinkedIn	LinkedIn
professional	LinkedIn		LinkedIn	LinkedIn		
network (SPN)						
Blogs	WordPress		WordPress			
Microblog	Twitter,			Twitter,	Twitter	
	Instagram					
Online	Zoom	BlueJeans	GoToMeeting	Zoom		
conferencing						
(OC)						
Instant	Slack	Slack	Skype for	Slack		
messaging (IM)			business			
Video				YouTube	YouTube	
hosting/Sharing						
(VHS)						
Moderated web				Reddit		
community						
(MWC)						

Table 5.1: Social media used in the B2B sales process by categories

## 5.4.1 Social networking platforms:

Social networking platforms are the most used social media category across all cases. Most specifically, LinkedIn is used in every single case. Two different types of practices are associated with LinkedIn depending on the firm's strategy. Firms operating a pull strategy use it to share blog posts on their profile, mostly lead-generating content. This is also accompanied by advertising to increase the visibility of the posts. On the other hand, firms operating push strategy instead use LinkedIn to identify the right people to approach targeted firms as well as to gather information on the latter before making their approach.

Facebook is only used by firms operating pull or mixed strategies. Similarly to the use that these firms make of LinkedIn, Facebook is mostly used to share lead-generating content. However, two other practices were highlighted in the pull strategy cases. First, C1 and C4 both mentioned that Facebook is used to access closed groups of people that strongly relate to their business. For C1, it is most potential clients to which they can promote their content directly. In the case of C4, it is a group of experts that offer partnership and knowledge exchange opportunities.

## 5.4.2 Blogs:

Blogging platform WordPress was used in C1, C3 and C4's pull activities. In each case, the platform is used to host blog posts, which could then be shared on the firm's social networking platforms and microblogs.

#### 5.4.3 Microblogs:

Microblogs are used across three different cases (i.e., C1, C4 and, C5). Twitter was used in each of these three cases for different purposes. C1 used it mainly to share blog posts to build brand awareness. C1 also used Instagram for similar reasons. C4 used Twitter to build brand awareness through advertising and to gather information on its market. C5 used Twitter to share information about trends of its industry to build its credibility in front of its audience.

#### **5.4.4 Online conferencing:**

Online conferencing platforms are used in cases C1, C2, C3, and C4. The three different platforms that are used across the cases are all used for the same purpose: demonstration of the firm's products or services. The general justification is that videoconferencing shares a lot of the face-to-face benefits that are known to be important for relationship building. It allows the client to see and hear the salesperson and also enables screen-sharing, which helps the salesperson to demonstrate how their product works.

## 5.4.5 Instant messaging:

Instant messaging platforms are also used in the first four cases. In each of these cases, instant messaging is used for internal communication and collaboration only. It allows colleagues to share knowledge and help each other in their various daily tasks. I6 from C4 also suggested that instant messaging platforms are excellent at facilitating work from home and collaboration between colleagues all around the world.

#### **5.4.6 Video hosting/Sharing:**

YouTube is the only video hosting/sharing platform that is used across the cases. This category of social media is only used in two of the cases, and they do not use it in similar ways. C4 uses it to produce informational content and customer success stories, which aim to increase the firm's credibility and build a strong brand image. C4 also uses YouTube to find content creators to partner with for them to advertise its products. On the other hand, C5 directly advertises its product on YouTube and also uses the platform to host some of its products (i.e., training videos).

## 5.4.7: Moderated web community:

C4 is the only case in which a moderated web community was mentioned; therefore, it does not seem to be common practice to use this category of social media in the B2B sales process. Two potential explanations could explain why it is used at C4 specifically: (1) their audience and (2) the interviewees' personal preference. First, it was mentioned in the interview with I6 that:

*I6: Reddit is also a very popular ecosystem for the people that we are trying to sell to.* 

Furthermore, they also shared the following thoughts with the researcher:

*I6: I love Reddit. I have been using Reddit personally for over ten years for a variety of things.* 

Therefore, we suggest that it is very likely that the use of this category of social media in C4 is heavily influenced by the firm's target audience and the interviewee's preference, which would explain why the other firms did not use such social media.

# **5.5 Functions**

This section will review which of the functional blocks of social media were leveraged across the 6 cases and the extent to which they were. Table 4.2 provides a summary of the functions across the cases.

#### 5.5.1 Identity:

Identity is a crucial function across this study. To the exception of I3, every interviewee mentioned that social media was used to build or express their firm's corporate brand or brand image to a certain extent. This is intended to increase brand awareness across their target market. Brand awareness is important for firms involved in pull strategy as they want their potential customers to know who they are and what they do to attract more customers into their sales funnel. Firms involved in push strategies rather value brand awareness because they find that customers are more likely to respond to their approach when they know them.

### 5.5.2 Conversation:

Conversation is also a crucial function in the B2B sales process. Every interviewee mentioned using the conversation function of social media daily. In most cases, social media platforms such as instant messaging are used to foster internal conversations among colleagues. Facilitating communication enhances collaboration with large and diverse groups (Bhimani et al., 2018; Mount and Martinez, 2014) as it is easier for people to discuss needs, solutions, and best practices. Social media is also leveraged for external communication across many cases. Videoconferencing platforms are used by C1, C3 and C4 to demonstrate their product in real-time to potential clients. Social networking and microblogging platforms are also used to either start or simply participate in discussions online with experts, potential clients, or even potential partners.

# 5.5.3 Sharing:

Social media is greatly leveraged in pull strategies to share lead-generating content. It is a very efficient channel to exchange knowledge for identifying information to identify leads and gather information on the latter. The ability to gather more knowledge on leads is beneficial, considering that, as established in Case #2, it allows the marketing team to make a better assessment of which leads are close to a buying intention. This is very valuable considering that persistent conflicts are known to exist between marketing and sales teams in regards to lead generation (Jarvinen and Taiminen, 2016). Jarvinen and Taiminen argue that it is common for a sales representative to criticize the quality of marketing leads. Therefore, by

acquiring more information on the leads through social media sharing, we can infer that firms are likely to reduce this friction between marketing and sales teams.

Furthermore, social media's function to share content can be greatly beneficial following the demonstration as it enables salespeople to share sales presentations with their clients. I3 mentioned in their interview that "unlike traditional media, social media allows us to share very heavy content." Here, the interviewees refer to the digital information size in terms of Megabytes. Some platforms also allow salespeople to track the content that is shared. This is also very valuable to salespeople because, as established in case #2, it allows them to be better prepared for their meetings with clients.

#### 5.5.4 Relationship:

While it was only discussed in the Case #4, the relationship functionality of social media seemed to open the door for great opportunities. In fact, for smaller firms operating in industries in which trade shows, conferences, or other events of this type are not common, social media seems to be a great alternative to establish new partnerships. Not only can it allow a firm to isolate specific experts through restricted groups, but it also allows a firm to assess the potential partner's reputation. These three functionalities were strongly interrelated in C4's case and offered the firm new opportunities through partnerships that were only possible because of social media. For most other cases, the relationship functional block was not used very much. Diba et al. (2019) posit that B2B consumers of the digital age now focus on relationships based on person-to-person trust. This belief seems to be shared by most of our interviewees as face-to-face, and traditional media are prioritized over social media in the stages of the selling process that require bidirectional exchanges with the clients given that they are perceived to be more fitting for trust-building purposes.

## 5.5.5 Presence:

The presence function does not seem to be present in most of the cases. The only case in which this function was mentioned is C1. I1 and I2 both argued that it was important for their firm to be present on the review site *Capterra* to be considered a credible option in their market. Their presence on such sites is leveraged by C1 as the firm proudly shares its rating via their profiles on Facebook, LinkedIn, and Twitter.

## 5.5.6 Reputation:

Just as the conversation functional block, reputation is a critical function as it came up in each interview. Most interviewees suggest that social media offers a great opportunity for their firm to build strong credibility in front of their market. Interviewees that operate in push strategy believe that their firm must have a good reputation online for the client to even respond to their approach.

#### 5.5.7 Group:

The group function of social media is used by the two firms operating pull strategies (i.e., C1 and C4) as well as the consulting firm C5. C1 manages a closed group on Facebook with which they directly share lead-generating content. As for C4, they are part of a closed group, also on Facebook, which is strictly restricted to application developers. This group allows its members to exchange knowledge and allows them to identify potential partners. Then, C5 manages a community of experts. This restricted group is also intended to give its members a place to exchange knowledge and identify potential partners.

In the context of this study, the group function seems to be strongly tied to Facebook in particular. Indeed, all three firms using this functional block mentioned that Facebook is the platform through which they interact with specific groups of experts or customers.

# 6. Discussion

This study contributes to the current body of literature on social media in the B2B selling process by answering its three research objectives. First, the results suggest that social media are most beneficial in the prospecting, preapproach and presentation stages. Second, this research suggests that social media cannot support the whole selling process by itself. Accordingly, it should be integrated with traditional media and analytical tools to complement it. Social media value is optimized in the early stages when it is paired with analytical tools and replaced by traditional media in the later stages. Thirdly, this research provides insights into how the different functional blocks of social media are leveraged across the different stages of the selling process concerning the firm's strategy. The study also suggests that firms operating pull strategies use social media differently from firms using push strategies.

# 6.1 Social media, traditional media, and analytical tools:

Social media is, without a doubt, widely used in B2B sales (Moore et al., 2013). Our key respondents perceive it as valuable to the B2B selling process because it offers a cheaper alternative to traditional methods; it is not limited by geographical distances and; allows completing daily tasks faster. More specifically, in the prospecting and preapproach stage, our research suggests that it is used to identify key decision-makers, understand potential client firm's structure, find common contacts to facilitate approaches, acquire information on potential clients, and to generate new leads.

However, it is known that persistent conflicts exist between marketing and sales development teams when it comes to lead generation, as marketing teams are often criticized for the quality of marketing leads (Jarvinen and Taiminen, 2016). Thus, while social media are great at generating new leads and are very handy when it comes to understanding prospects before approaching them, they cannot guarantee the quality of each lead. The multiple cases on which this study is grounded suggest that complementing social media with analytical tools allows marketing people to assess the quality of leads better and to focus their resources on leads that are closer to an actual buying intention. In cases #1, 3, and 4, the marketing automation tool HubSpot is used for this purpose. According to Jarvinen and Taiminen (2016), marketing automation involves "a software platform that can be used to deliver content based on specific rules set by users." (p. 165) Moreover, they suggest that marketing automation and web analytics capitalize on similar techniques as they both track online website visitors' online behavior (Jarvinen and Taiminen, 2016). HubSpot enables marketers to track who interacts with leadgenerating content pushed by the firm as well as how they interact with the content. Each lead can be tracked to allow a better assessment of their potential, which can help the firm to allocate its resources toward better leads. As for case #2, the analytical tool used is a collaborative platform that we refer to as X01. This collaborative platform allows salespeople at C2 to track their clients' behavior concerning the sales material that was shared with them.

Overall, this research suggests that different types of analytical tools can be used in conjunction with social media to enhance the sales process. As approximately 70% of all leads generated by marketing are ignored (Jarvinen and Taiminen, 2016), it is very valuable for the sales team to be able to assess the quality of each lead and be able to discard those that have lesser potential.

Then, our analysis suggests that from the approach stage up until the end of the selling process, face-to-face and traditional media such as phones and emails are prioritized over social media for direct interactions. Our findings suggest that face-to-face and traditional media are prioritized in these steps because they are better suited to create a personal relationship between the salesperson and the buyer. Establishing a strong relationship with the buyer is very important for the salesperson as stronger social bonds are known to foster trust-building, and trust in the salesperson directly increases the likelihood that the buyer anticipates doing business with the seller in the future (Doney and Cannon, 1997). The idea of using face-to-face and traditional media over social media for trust-building is also consistent with the Social Media Capability Maturity Model suggested by Wang et al. (2017). For firms to achieve the highest maturity level of this capability model, they need to transform from a transactional-focused paradigm to a networking-focused paradigm (Wang et al., 2017). This transformation is intended to allow firms to focus on psycho-social concepts such as trust and commitment (Wang et al., 2017). Because of these arguments, we believe that face-to-face interactions still play a key role in the sales process and, thus, in B2B buyer-seller relationship building.

According to our findings, the online conferencing category of social media seems to be the exception when it comes to relationship-building. Across our cases, firms using this category of social media used it exclusively in the presentation stage. The interviewees argued that this specific social media category could be used for demonstration purposes as it features most benefits of face-to-face while offering a much greater reach at lower costs. This is consistent with the findings from Marshall and al. (2012), according to which sales are becoming increasingly global, which creates significant opportunities for increased revenues via access to

new markets. However, our finding comes from firms specifically commercializing digital products, which will be discussed in the limitations.

Also, while social media was not found to be used directly for approaches, our analysis suggests that social media plays an indirect role in the success of the approaches. Most interviewees reported that social media is used to build the firm's corporate brand as well as its reputation online. By sharing educational content, customer success stories, market trends, industry best practices and, market reports, firms can create brand awareness while reinforcing their image as experts and, thus, be perceived as credible. A strong brand and reputation are key factors when it comes to the success of a salesperson approach. This is supported by Doney and Cannon (1997) which found that reputation is often used as a proxy for trust when a firm wants to engage with an unknown partner. Therefore, salespeople are more likely to be perceived as trustworthy and, thus, successfully establish contact with a prospect if they can leverage social media to build a strong reputation. Furthermore, a strong brand image is also associated with higher loyalty and more referrals from buyers (Michaelidou et al., 2011).

In summary, this research's findings suggest that social media, analytical tools and traditional media are all essential components of the modern B2B sales process. This suggestion builds on the previous findings of scholars such as Jarvinen and Taiminen (2016) which discussed the integration of analytics into social media practices. However, this research pushes it a step further by suggesting that traditional media should still be included when looking at social media in the sales process. According to the interviewees, traditional media will very often replace social media in these stages because they are better suited for trust-building and relationship-building. However, this research was also able to identify a notable exception in the use of videoconferencing applications for product demonstrations. In the majority of the cases, salespeople have adopted this new method of presentation which carries most of the advantages of traditional media as well as benefits that are specific to social media. While it could be possible that this finding indicates an upcoming shift to an increasing integration of social media to the B2B selling process, it is still unclear whether this would only apply to specific firms of technology-related industries.

# 6.2 The functional blocks of social media in the selling process

Similarly to what Diba et al. (2019) did for the B2B buying process, we decided to analyze how managers could use the functional blocks of social media proposed by Kietzmann et al. (2011) to influence the stages of the selling process. Table 6.1 presents a summary of the direct and indirect influence that social media can have on the selling process for firms using a pull strategy. The last three stages will not be discussed as we established earlier that social media was not used in these across the most cases of this study. The only exception is C3 which did use social media in the follow-up stage. However, as this practice couldn't be validated by any other case, it is not clear whether it is an isolated phenomenon.

	Identity	Conversation	Sharing	Relationships	Presence	Reputation	Group
Prospecting and preapproach (pull)	Х	Х	Х	-	х	Х	Х
Prospecting and preapproach (push)	Х	-	-	-	Х	Х	-
Approach	-	-	Ι	-	Ι	Ι	-
Presentation	-	Х	Х	Х	-	-	-

Table 6.1: The functional blocks of social media in the selling process

Objection	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Closing	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Follow-up	-	-	Х	-	-	-	-

X: Direct use of the function; I: Indirect use of the function

### **Prospecting and preapproach (pull):**

As explained previously, our research suggests that social media are mostly used in the early stages of the selling process. Consistently, six of the seven functional blocks are used in the prospecting and preapproach stage. *Identity* is used as social media allows firms to build a strong brand image online and generate awareness about who they are and what they do. This is especially relevant for pull strategies because sellers knock two birds with one stone by using social media and blog posts to share lead-generating content which creates this brand awareness and attract customers into their sales funnel at the same time.

With a pull strategy, *conversation* is networked. Through social networking platforms, the seller can start a conversation through its posts and engage multiple people in the discussion by inciting them to comments and share. As the firm starts the *conversations*, it has control over the general orientation of the discussion and can engage customers and prospects by carefully selecting the themes of its posts. These are usually very accessible and broad to cast a wider net on social media. Our findings suggest that analytical tools help the firm to track its posts and get a better understanding of which ones create more engagement and reactions. Ultimately, these conversations allow them to identify new prospects and stimulate interactions with the firm's content, which can also be tracked for information gathering purposes.

The following piece of the pull strategy is to *share* more specific and valuable content in exchange for more information. Users that participated in discussions initiated by the

firm or simply interacted with the posts can be retargeted using advertising on social networks. The seller offers intelligence by *sharing* more specific content such as ebooks, whitepapers, or market reviews in exchange for identifying information on the prospect and its firm. An exchange of value occurs as the seller provides actionable intelligence in exchange for information that will allow a better assessment of lead quality.

Social media activity also displays the firm's *presence* in its market. In specific industries, reviews platforms are crucial for the firm to be perceived as a credible player. According to Case #1, sharing these ratings to let customers and prospects know that the firm is a competitive player in its market can represent valuable lead-generating content. It helps build the firm's *reputation* by confirming its presence in the industry. *Reputation* is also built by generating credibility through the relevance of the lead-generating content. Social media cannot be taken lightly as firms need to constantly be relevant and provide value to build their status as experts and trustworthy advisors.

At last, *groups* can be used for targeted prospecting and preapproach. By creating and managing restricted groups, firms can create for themselves a pool of prospects and customers. While these groups provide learning opportunities for the firm and its members, they also provide the firm with direct access to new leads.

#### **Prospecting and preapproach (push):**

Push strategies especially differ from pull ones in the prospecting and preapproach stages as salespeople are actively identifying and researching on the prospects rather than attracting them. Thus, social media is used differently across this stage, specifically because rather than exchanging valuable content and intelligence for information, the seller is directly digging for the information that is available on social media. According to interviewees I3 and 18, LinkedIn provides very detailed information on most firms via the LinkedIn Sales Navigator. Thus, push strategies could arguably provide more information on client firms than pull one, but it requires more time and resources. Thus, push strategies seem to be more fitting for salespeople that are looking to close a few large accounts rather than multiple smaller ones. LinkedIn Sales Navigator allows salespeople to understand complex organizational structures and identify key stakeholders.

Accordingly, *conversation*, *sharing*, and *groups* are not used in push strategies because the prospecting and preapproach stage is about acquiring information, not exchanging. However, seller firms operating push strategies still leverage the *identity* and *reputation* function by posting on social media. Our research of secondary data revealed that rather than posting lead-generating content, push firms would focus on posts that contribute to building their brand image and credibility. For example, posts about new partnerships, new releases, or even events the firm is hosting. In a similar fashion, the *presence* functional block is also used as the firm to ensure its "social presence" by posting regularly.

### Approach:

For the approach stage, it was established in the previous section that social media does not seem to be consistently used. However, the actions taken in the previous stage influence the approaches. Salespeople will dedicate their efforts to the leads that carry the most potential. This assessment of potential is a result of the information exchange that occurred following the *sharing* of actionable intelligence. Also, not only can the approaches be focused on better leads, by establishing social media presence and a strong reputation, the salesperson is also more likely to see the prospects return their calls or answer their emails when they are not reached in the first attempt.

# **Presentation and demonstration:**

Following a successful approach, the presentation of the salesperson can be complemented by online conferencing platforms. This specific category of social media allows the salesperson to have a *conversation* with the clients that could not be reached otherwise due to time constraints or geographical distance. This person-to-person interaction also provides an opportunity to build a personal *relationship* between the parties. Also, in cases where online conferencing was not used for demonstration purposes, a collaborative platform was used to complement phone calls and face-to-face. Indeed, they allow the salesperson to *share* their sales presentation and complementary documents with the prospect right after the pitch. In case #2 particularly, the in-house platform allowed C2 to track how the shared documents were used and shared by the client, which helped salespeople to better prepare for subsequent meetings.

# 6.3 Learning and strategizing

While investigating the different practices and platforms used across the cases, it became apparent that learning and strategizing are key elements in the study of how social media can enhance the B2B selling process. As they learn more about social media, firms seem to change the way they use social media and ultimately adopt or abandon specific platforms and practices. In the case of firms with limited resources and workforce, they seem to focus on a social media strategy that will automatically filter in good clients and allow them to leverage their limited resources as much as possible. Through a combination of content marketing and marketing automation platform they can create a flow of customers that directly comes to them and save a lot of time and resources by limiting the researches and filtering required to identify a customer. After a few years using social media, some firms can even spot new business opportunities in social media that are very rarely used for business purposes. A great example of that is C4 which found in Reddit a new opportunity to gather valuable information on their target market. This is a very specific use as during our literature review, we have not found a single mention of Reddit being used this way.

On the other hand, larger firms with great amount of resources seem to develop a completely different strategy as they learn more about social media. Their social media use seems to be geared toward concentrating resources toward the acquisition of a limited number of very large clients. They focus their money and time on platforms such as LinkedIn's sales navigator in order to learn as much as possible on specific clients which they have hand-picked. Our secondary research revealed that these firms still post content on social media, but it is very different from the content that results from the content marketing of the smaller firms. Larger players seem to use social media to share their latest initiatives and build their image as trustworthy experts. In the end, it all ties together as these initiatives aim to make sure that the big client they will approach already knows about them.

Overall, we hypothesize that in the context of social media and B2B sales, firm size and experience with social media could have an influence on the social media and related marketing strategies adopted by the latter.

### 6.4 Limitations and future research

The first limitation of this study is that the firms composing the sample are all from technology-related industries. As a result, the extent to which the insights of this study can be applied to other industries is unclear. The findings of this study should be applied to other contexts with caution. A second limitation of this study is the fact that the cases are composed of small and large firms only. This limitation is expected to have a minimal impact as the researchers did not find any significant findings related to firm size specifically.

This study suggests two potential avenues for future research. The first suggestion is a quantitative research that would aim to verify the findings of this research. Such research could adopt a larger sample size including small, medium and large-sized firms in order to validate whether or not there is a relation between the size of the firms, their experience with social media, and the strategy they are using. Such research could also gather more information regarding the different analytical tools that are used by seller firms in the B2B selling process. This study highlighted the marketing automation platform and collaborative platforms as a good complement to social media in the sales process. However, our analysis does not suggest in any way that analytical tools are limited to these two types.

The second suggestion for future research is to look into the interrelated relationships that tie analytics, social media and traditional media together. While this research provides evidence that there is a relation between these three concepts, we did not get a clear sense of it given the exploratory nature of the study. It could be beneficial to understand the fine details of this relationship in order to build a framework that illustrates it. Such framework could allow these findings to be easily shared and integrated in other researches.

# 7. References

- Andersson, Svante, and Niclas Wikström. "Why and How Are Social Media Used in a B2B Context, and Which Stakeholders Are Involved?" *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing* 32, no. 8 (October 2, 2017): 1098–1108. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-07-2016-0148.
- Agnihotri, Raj, Prabakar Kothandaraman, Rajiv Kashyap, and Ramendra Singh. "Bringing 'Social' Into Sales: The Impact of Salespeople's Social Media Use on Service Behaviors and Value Creation." *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management* 32, no. 3 (June 2012): 333–48. https://doi.org/10.2753/PSS0885-3134320304.
- Bhimani, Hardik, Anne-Laure Mention, and Pierre-Jean Barlatier. "Social Media and Innovation: A Systematic Literature Review and Future Research Directions." *Technological Forecasting and Social Change* 144 (July 2019): 251–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.10.007</u>.
- Chaffey, Dave, and P. R. Smith. *Emarketing Excellence: Planning and Optimizing Your Digital Marketing*. 4th ed. London; New York: Routledge, 2013.
- Cox, Joshua L., Eric R. Martinez, and Kevin B. Quinlan. "Blogs and the Corporation: Managing the Risk, Reaping the Benefits." *Journal of Business Strategy* 29, no. 3 (May 2, 2008): 4–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/02756660810873164</u>.
- Crosby, L., Evans, K., & Cowles, D. "Relationship Quality in Services Selling: An Interpersonal Influence Perspective." *Journal of Marketing* 54, no. 3 (July 1990): 68–81. https://doi.org/10.2307/1251817
- Dennis, Alan R., Julie A. Rennecker, and Sean Hansen. "Invisible Whispering: Restructuring Collaborative Decision Making with Instant Messaging: Invisible Whispering." *Decision Sciences* 41, no. 4 (November 2010): 845–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5915.2010.00290.x</u>.

- Diba, Hoda, Joseph M. Vella, and Russell Abratt. "Social Media Influence on the B2B Buying Process." *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing* 34, no. 7 (August 5, 2019): 1482–96. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-12-2018-0403.
- Doney, P., & Cannon, J. "An Examination of the Nature of Trust in Buyer-Seller Relationships." *Journal of Marketing* 61, no. 2 (April 1997): 35-51. https://doi.org/10.2307/1251829
- Dwyer, F., Schurr, P., & Oh, S. "Developing Buyer-Seller Relationships." *Journal of Marketing* 51, no.2 (April 1987): 11–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1251126</u>
- Eisenhardt, Kathleen M., and Melissa E. Graebner. "Theory Building From Cases: Opportunities And Challenges." *Academy of Management Journal* 50, no. 1 (February 2007): 25–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2007.24160888</u>.
- Ellonen, Hanna Kaisa, and Miia Kosonen. "Treat Your Customers as Equals! Fostering Customer Collaboration through Social Media." *International Journal of Electronic Marketing and Retailing* 3, no. 3 (2010): 221. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJEMR.2010.034830.

Fillicaro, Barbara. "Webinar answers, who's on first." TrainingMedia Review 10, no. 4 (2002): 7-9.

- Frazier, Gary L. "Organizing and Managing Channels of Distribution." Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science 27, no. 2 (April 1, 1999): 226–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0092070399272007</u>.
- Guba, E. (1981). "Criteria for assessing the trustworthiness of naturalistic inquiries." *ECTJ* 29, no. 2 (1981): 75–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02766777
- Gupta, Samir, Michael Polonsky, and Violet Lazaravic. "Collaborative Orientation to Advance Value Co-Creation in Buyer-Seller Relationships." *Journal of Strategic Marketing* 27, no. 3 (April 3, 2019): 191–209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0965254X.2017.1384747</u>.

- Halligan, B., and Shah, D. (2010). Inbound marketing: Get Found Using Google, Social Media, and Blogs. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley & Sons.
- Hassanein, Khaled, and Milena Head. "Manipulating Perceived Social Presence through the Web Interface and Its Impact on Attitude towards Online Shopping." *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies* 65, no. 8 (August 2007): 689–708. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhcs.2006.11.018</u>.
- Huang, Chunneng, Tianjun Fu, and Hsinchun Chen. "Text-Based Video Content Classification for Online Video-Sharing Sites." *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 61, no. 5 (May 2010): 891–906. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.21291</u>.
- Holliman, Geraint, and Jennifer Rowley. "Business to Business Digital Content Marketing: Marketers' Perceptions of Best Practice." *Journal of Research in Interactive Marketing* 8, no. 4 (October 7, 2014): 269–93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JRIM-02-2014-0013</u>.
- Homburg, C., Klarmann, M., Reimann, M., & Schilke, O. (2012). What drives key informant accuracy? (Report). Journal of Marketing Research, 49(4), 594–608. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmr.09.0174
- Itani, Omar S., Raj Agnihotri, and Rebecca Dingus. "Social Media Use in B2b Sales and Its Impact on Competitive Intelligence Collection and Adaptive Selling: Examining the Role of Learning Orientation as an Enabler." *Industrial Marketing Management* 66 (October 2017): 64–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.06.012</u>.
- Järvinen, Joel, and Heini Taiminen. "Harnessing Marketing Automation for B2B Content Marketing."
   *Industrial Marketing Management* 54 (April 2016): 164–75.
   <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.07.002</u>.

- Kaplan, Andreas M., and Michael Haenlein. "Users of the World, Unite! The Challenges and Opportunities of Social Media." *Business Horizons* 53, no. 1 (January 2010): 59–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2009.09.003</u>.
- Kärkkäinen, Hannu, Jari Jussila, and Jaani Väisänen. "Social Media Use and Potential in Business-to-Business Companies' Innovation:" *International Journal of Ambient Computing and Intelligence* 5, no. 1 (January 2013): 53–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/jaci.2013010104</u>.
- Keinänen, Hanna, and Olli Kuivalainen. "Antecedents of Social Media B2B Use in Industrial Marketing Context: Customers' View." Edited by Heikki Karjaluoto, Pauliina Ulkuniemi. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing* 30, no. 6 (July 6, 2015): 711–22. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-04-2013-0095.
- Kietzmann, Jan H., Kristopher Hermkens, Ian P. McCarthy, and Bruno S. Silvestre. "Social Media? Get Serious! Understanding the Functional Building Blocks of Social Media." *Business Horizons* 54, no. 3 (May 2011): 241–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2011.01.005</u>.
- Kietzmann, Jan H., Bruno S. Silvestre, Ian P. McCarthy, and Leyland F. Pitt. "Unpacking the Social Media Phenomenon: Towards a Research Agenda: Unpacking the Social Media Phenomenon." *Journal of Public Affairs* 12, no. 2 (May 2012): 109–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.1412</u>.
- Lashgari, Maryam, Catherine Sutton-Brady, Klaus Solberg Søilen, and Pernilla Ulfvengren.
  "Adoption Strategies of Social Media in B2B Firms: A Multiple Case Study Approach." *Journal* of Business & Industrial Marketing 33, no. 5 (June 4, 2018): 730–43. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-10-2016-0242.
- Lincoln, Yvonna S., and Guba, Egon G. (1985). *Naturalistic Inquiry*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications. p.289-327

- Marshall, Greg W., William C. Moncrief, John M. Rudd, and Nick Lee. "Revolution in Sales: The Impact of Social Media and Related Technology on the Selling Environment." *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management* 32, no. 3 (June 2012): 349–63. https://doi.org/10.2753/PSS0885-3134320305.
- Michaelidou, Nina, Nikoletta Theofania Siamagka, and George Christodoulides. "Usage, Barriers and Measurement of Social Media Marketing: An Exploratory Investigation of Small and Medium B2B Brands." *Industrial Marketing Management* 40, no. 7 (October 2011): 1153–59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2011.09.009</u>.
- Miles, Matthew B., and Huberman, A. Michael. (1994), *Qualitative data analysis* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Moncrief, William C., and Greg W. Marshall. "The Evolution of the Seven Steps of Selling." *Industrial Marketing Management* 34, no. 1 (January 2005): 13–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2004.06.001</u>.
- Moore, Jesse N., Christopher D. Hopkins, and Mary Anne Raymond. "Utilization of Relationship-Oriented Social Media in the Selling Process: A Comparison of Consumer (B2C) and Industrial (B2B) Salespeople." *Journal of Internet Commerce* 12, no. 1 (February 2013): 48–75. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332861.2013.763694.
- Moore, Jesse N., Mary Anne Raymond, and Christopher D. Hopkins. "Social Selling: A Comparison of Social Media Usage Across Process Stage, Markets, and Sales Job Functions." *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice* 23, no. 1 (January 2, 2015): 1–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10696679.2015.980163</u>.

- Moran, E., and F. Gossieaux. 2010. Marketing in a hyper-social world: The tribalization of business study and characteristics of successful online communities. Journal of Advertising Research 50 (3): 232–239.
- Morse, Janice M. "Critical Analysis of Strategies for Determining Rigor in Qualitative Inquiry." *Qualitative Health Research* 25, no. 9 (September 2015): 1212–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315588501</u>.
- Mount, Matthew, and Marian Garcia Martinez. "Social Media: A Tool for Open Innovation." *California Management Review* 56, no. 4 (August 2014): 124–43. https://doi.org/10.1525/cmr.2014.56.4.124.
- Rajamma, Rajasree K., Mohammad Ali Zolfagharian, and Lou E. Pelton. "Dimensions and Outcomes of B2B Relational Exchange: A Meta-analysis." *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing* 26, no. 2 (February 2011): 104–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/08858621111112285</u>.
- Rodriguez, Michael, Robert M. Peterson, and Vijaykumar Krishnan. "Social Media's Influence on Business-to-Business Sales Performance." *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management* 32, no. 3 (June 2012): 365–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.2753/PSS0885-3134320306</u>.
- Singaraju, Stephen P., Quan Anh Nguyen, Outi Niininen, and Gillian Sullivan-Mort. "Social Media and Value Co-Creation in Multi-Stakeholder Systems: A Resource Integration Approach." *Industrial Marketing Management* 54 (April 2016): 44–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.12.009</u>.
- Stanko, Michael A., Joseph M. Bonner, and Roger J. Calantone. "Building Commitment in Buyer-Seller Relationships: A Tie Strength Perspective." *Industrial Marketing Management* 36, no. 8 (November 2007): 1094–1103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2006.10.001</u>.

- Truong, Yann, and Geoff Simmons. "Perceived Intrusiveness in Digital Advertising: Strategic Marketing Implications." *Journal of Strategic Marketing* 18, no. 3 (June 2010): 239–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09652540903511308</u>.
- Wang, Yun, Michel Rod, Shaobo Ji, and Qi Deng. "Social Media Capability in B2B Marketing: Toward a Definition and a Research Model." *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing* 32, no. 8 (October 2, 2017): 1125–35. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-10-2016-0250.
- Wilson, D. (1995). "An integrated model of buyer-seller relationships." Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science 23, no. 4 (1995): 335-345.

Yin, Robert K. (1994). Case study research: Design and methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Yin, Robert K. (2003). Case study research: Design and Methods (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Zach, Lisl. "Using a Multiple-Case Studies Design to Investigate the Information-Seeking Behavior of Arts Administrators." *Library Trends* 55, no. 1 (2006): 4–21. https://doi.org/10.1353/lib.2006.0055.
- Zahay, Debra, Nick Hajli, and Debika Sihi. "Managerial Perspectives on Crowdsourcing in the New Product Development Process." *Industrial Marketing Management* 71 (May 2018): 41–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.11.002.
- Zikmund, William. G., Babin, Barry J., Carr, Jon C., and Griffin, Mitch (2013). *Business research methods* (9<sup>th</sup> ed.). Mason, OH: Cengage Learning.